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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors, I am
pleased to report that the Group had
performed satisfactori ly and achieved
growth in both turnover and net profit for
the year ended 31 March 2008.

OPERATING RESULTS
The Group operates an extensive retail
network in Asia with over 760 retail outlets
under its proprietary brands “Hang Ten”,
“H&T” and other brands owned or licensed
by the Group. Most of the Group’s revenue
is generated from its retail operation. The
Group also distributes “Hang Ten” products
through its distributors in a number of
territories. In addition, the Group grants
licences to international licensees the right
to design, manufacture and sell products

bearing the trademarks owned by the Group
in designated territories. The distribution and
licensing operations not only provide a
steady income flow, but also enhance the
image and exposure o f  the brands
internationally.

During the year under review, the Group
took a major step in its development by
extending its retail operation into Mainland
China. The Group considers that the
Mainland China offers a potential for further
expansion and development of the Group’s
business. In addition to the expansion into
new market, the Group continued to develop
its existing markets during the year.

In Taiwan, the Group continued to develop
and expand sales points for the “Arnold
Palmer” brand which carries an attractive
range of apparel and accessories aiming
at more up-market customers. While the
consumer sentiment in Taiwan remained
weak due to political instability, the Group
had focused i t s  e f for t  on improving
operating efficiency during the year by
closing down unprofi table shops and
opening new shops in better locations with
more consumer traffics. As a result, the
Group managed to achieve a growth in
sales and operating profit in this territory.

At the same time, the Group continued to
expand its retail network in South Korea
and over 40 new shops were opened during
the year. The youthful fashion brand “H&T”
continued to perform well and there were
72 specialised “H&T” shops in South Korea
as at 31 March 2008. The Group’s South
Korean operation thus continued to record
growth in sales and profitability.

Turnover of the Group for the year ended
3 1  M a r c h  2 0 0 8  a m o u n t e d  t o
U S $ 2 7 4 , 2 9 4 , 0 0 0  ( e q u i v a l e n t  t o
approximate ly  HK$2,127,150,000),
representing a year on year growth of 6.5%.
Profit attributable to equity shareholders
increased 54.6% to US$21,563,000
( e q u i v a l e n t  t o  a p p r o x i m a t e l y
HK$167,220,000).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

DIVIDEND
The board of directors proposed a final
d i v idend o f  Hong Kong 6 .0  cen t s
(equivalent to approximately United States
0.77 cent) per ordinary share for the year
ended 31 March 2008 and in view that
the Company had not declared any interim
dividend in the past, the board of directors
also recommended to pay a special
dividend of Hong Kong 1.0 cent (equivalent
to approximately United States 0.13 cent)
per ordinary share for the year ended 31
March 2008 as an additional return to the
shareholders. Both the proposed final
dividend and the proposed special dividend
are subjec t  to  the approval  by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECT
The results for the year ended 31 March
2008 are encouraging despi te  low
economic growth in the Group’s two major
markets, namely Taiwan and South Korea.
The Group will continue to adopt a strategy
of growth with emphasis on profitability and

efficiency. In addition, in order to strengthen
its competitiveness and to maintain its
leading position in the market, the Group
will continue to enhance its existing product
line, product design and product quality.
Further expansion of the Group’s retail
network is planned with focus on these two
major markets and Mainland China.

Taiwan
Following the recent presidential election
and change in government, it is expected
that the economic condit ions wil l  be
generally improved. The directors believe
that the expected improvement in cross-strait
relation between Taiwan and Mainland
China, following up with the opening of
direct flights between the two territories and
the relaxation of restrictions on direct
investments and tourism from Mainland
China, will contribute substantial positive
effect to Taiwan’s economy. With our
existing strong presence as one of the
leading retailers in the market, the Group
will be able to enjoy a large share of the
benefits resulting from the improved market
conditions.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

Although the recent political instability
locally in Taiwan coupled with the global
inflation problem have affected the general
consumer sentiment in spending, as a long-
established and leading retailer in the
marketplace, the directors believe that our
operation in Taiwan will continue to deliver
sa t i s fac to ry  resu l t s  by  under tak ing
app rop r ia t e  measu re s  t o  imp rove
merchandising, to conduct s tructured
promotions and to control costs. To further
consolidate its leading position, the Group
will continue to look for new opportunities
to improve its market penetration.

The Group commenced to operate the
“Arnold Palmer” brand under licence in
2006 and a network of 24 shops had been
put into operation by 31 March 2008.
Despi te a re la t ive ly shor t  per iod of
operation, this operation has already
delivered positive returns. The Group plans
to add a further 20 new “Arnold Palmer”

shops to its existing network in the coming
fiscal year and believes that this operation
will contribute significant profits to the
Group in future.

With our continuous improvement in the
“Hang Ten” operation and aggressive
expansion for “Arnold Palmer”, the Group
believes that Taiwan will remain as the most
important profit contributor of the Group.

South Korea
Because of inf lat ionary pressure and
depreciation of the South Korean currency,
it is expected that the economy in this
terri tory wil l not show any immediate
improvement. However, as our established
operation has shown steady growth over
past few years, the directors believe that
the South Korean market still has a lot of
potent ial for growth. The Group wil l
continue to increase i ts geographical
coverage and market penetration so as to
consolidate its position as one of the leading
retailers in the market. The Group will also
control the operating costs and enhance the
efficiency of this operation to improve its
profitability. The directors believe that South
Korea will continue to be one of our major
markets.

Other Markets
As at  31 March 2008, the Group ’s
operation in Mainland China was relatively
small with only 98 retail shops comparing
to the potential and the size of the market.
However, brand recognition and awareness
have been established in the market,
following our presence in over 20 major
cities including Beijing, Shanghai, Wuhan,
Chengdu and Shenzhen. The Group will
expand the “Hang Ten” operation in both
retailing and wholesale. Since the taking
over of the retail operation by the Group
from its former licensee in October 2007,
the operation has shown steady growth in
sales and it is expected that contribution
from this market will gradually become more
significant.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

The Hong Kong and Macau marke t
continues to encounter an environment of
high operating costs and severe competition.
However, the directors believe that our
presence and exposure in these two major
business and tourist centres is essential to
enhance our international image. The Group
will take appropriate measures to improve
sales and to control operating costs to
ensure our presence in these two markets is
worthwhile and meaningful.

The Group has implemented measures to
imp rove  t he  me r chand i s e  f o r  t he
Singaporean and Malaysian operations and
has already launched a program to refurbish
certain major shops to enhance our brand
image and has achieved successful result.
At the same time, steps have been taken to
close down unprofitable shops to improve
overall efficiency. It is expected that the
performance in these two markets will be
greatly improved in the coming year.

The Group’s operation in the Philippines
remains relatively small and the Group will
continue to fine-tune the retail network in
th i s  te r r i to ry  to  inc rease  i t s  p ro f i t
contribution.

In addition, the Group will explore any
opportunity to expand its operation into
other potential markets around the world.

LICENSING OPERATION
In  order  to  s t rengthen the pub l ic ’s
recognition of the “Hang Ten” brand, the
Group wi l l  con t inue to  deve lop i t s
international network of licensees. The
licensing operation will continue to provide
a steady revenue stream to the Group.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the board of directors, I would
like to express our sincere appreciation to
all our staff and I would also like to thank
our shareholders, suppliers, bankers and
customers for their continuous support to
the Group.

Chan Wing Sun
Chairman

15 July 2008
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS AND OPERATIONAL
REVIEW
Operation Overview
During the year, the Group extended its
business into new market as wel l  as
expanded its existing retail network of
“Hang Ten”, “H&T” and “Arnold Palmer”
brands. In October 2007, the Group
expanded its business into Mainland China
by acquiring the “Hang Ten” retail operation
in Mainland China from its former licensee.

The two key markets of the Group, Taiwan
and Korea, performed satisfactorily. The
Group increased i ts profi t  margin by
improving the efficiency of its operation
through restructuring of its retail network.
Profitability in Taiwan improved significantly
even though the Taiwan economy remained
sluggish during the year. Turnover of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2008
grew moderately by 6.5% and amounted
t o  U S $ 2 7 4 , 2 9 4 , 0 0 0  ( 2 0 0 7 :

US$257,616,000). The gross margin ratio
of the Group improved slightly from 56.0%
to 57.7%. Operating profit for the year
increased by 42% to US$28,420,000
(2007: US$20,014,000) on the basis of a
strong recovery of profitability in Taiwan
and steady growth in Korea. Net profit
attributable to equity shareholders for the
year amounted to US$21,563,000 (2007:
US$13,952,000), an increase of 54.6% on
a year on year basis.

Gross margin ratio for the year ended 31
March 2008 increased to 57.7%. The
improvement in gross margin was mainly
attributed to the increase in the proportion
of the sales derived from the South Korean
market, where the Group’s products could
generally achieve a slightly higher gross
margin because of different product mix.
Gross profit of the Group increased to
U S $ 1 5 8 , 1 5 5 , 0 0 0  ( 2 0 0 7 :
US$144,261,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

Selling expenses for the year ended 31
March 2008 amounted to US$115,558,000
(2007: US$109,425,000), representing an
increase of US$6,133,000 which was
mainly attr ibuted to increase in sales
activities and was commensurate with the
increase in sales level. Administrative
expenses amounted to US$19,724,000
(2007: US$17,511,000), representing an
increase of US$2,213,000, which was
attributed to the general and administrative
expenses for the Group’s operation in
Main land China and expans ion in
operation. Other operating expenses
decreased to  US$190,000 (2007:
US$2,865,000)  main ly  because o f
reduction in impairment losses on royalty
receivable.

Apparel Sales
Sales of apparel contributed to about 98.6%
(2007: 98.5%) of the Group’s turnover for
the year ended 31 March 2008. The
remaining 1.4% (2007: 1.5%) of the
turnover was generated from the Group’s
trademark licensing activities.

Sales generated from retail and distribution
of apparel amounted to US$270,590,000
for the year ended 31 March 2008 (2007:
US$253,706,000). This represents a growth
of 6.7% from last year. During the year,
the Group continued to expand its retail
network. As at 31 March 2008, the Group
had 763 retail shops (2007: 648 shops)
with total shop floor area of about 634,600
square feet (2007: 590,200 square feet).

Taiwan
Sales in the Taiwan market contributed to
about 41.9% (2007: 42.2%) of the Group’s
total turnover. Total sales in the Taiwan
market for the year ended 31 March 2008
amounted to US$114,909,000 (2007:
US$108,711,000), of which retail sales
amounted to US$106,556,000 (2007:
US$101,357,000) and sales generated
from distributing activi ty amounted to
US$8,353,000 (2007: US$7,354,000).
The general economic environment in
Taiwan remained sluggish due to political
instability and general consumer sentiments
and purchasing power remained weak
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

during the year. However, the Group
managed to increase the retail sales revenue
in this market by 5.1%.

During the year, the Group had undertaken
measures to improve the overall efficiency
of its retail network by closing down some
under-performing shops. The Group had also
undertaken a refurbishment program for
major “Hang Ten” shops.

In addition, the Group continued to expand
the retail network of its “Arnold Palmer”
brand. A total of 17 “Arnold Palmer”
specialised shops were opened during the
year. The “Arnold Palmer” brand was
launched by the Group during the previous
fiscal year and targets a more up-market
customer group. While contribution from this
brand to the Group’s turnover remained
small, i ts performance has been very
encouraging. There has been significant
growth in sales generated from this brand.
It has enlarged the customer base of the
Group and has developed a solid base for
further growth of this product line.

With the improvement in sales and shop
efficiency and appropriate cost control
measures, operating profit generated from
the Taiwan operation increased by 54.7%.
The operating profit derived from this market
amounted to US$14,347,000 (2007:
US$9,276,000). The Group had a total
retail floor area of approximately 295,000
square feet (2007: 312,000 square feet)
comprising 252 retail shops (2007: 270
shops) as at 31 March 2008, of which 24
were “Arnold Palmer” shops.

South Korea
The retail environment was weak in Korea
during the year because of low economic
growth. However, the Group continued to
perform satisfactorily in this market with
sales increased by 8.9% and operating
profit increased by 8.6%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

During the year, the Group continued to
expand its retail network in South Korea.
Following the successful launch of the “H&T”
brand in early 2006, the Group added 23
H&T specialised shops during the year
ended 31 March 2008. The “H&T” brand
is more trendy and fashionable and offers
casual wear and accessory products
targeting the youth and teenager market. It
had established a strong customer base and
about 23% of the sales generated in this
market during the year was attributed to
the “H&T”  brand. As a resul t  of  the
expansion of its network, sales in the South
Korea market grew to US$123,961,000
(2007: US$113,826,000). Sales generated
from the South Korea market contributed to
45.2% (2007: 44.2%) of the Group’s total
turnover for the year ended 31 March
2008.

Operating profit for the year ended 31
March 2008 amounted to US$12,574,000
(2007: US$11,579,000) representing an
increase of 8.6%. As at 31 March 2008,
the Group had 306 retail shops (2007: 265
shops) in South Korea including 72 (2007:
49) specialised H&T shops, with total retail
floor area of approximately 189,000 square
feet (2007: 183,000 square feet).

Philippines
Philippines contributed to about 2.2%
(2007: 2.1%) of the Group’s turnover. Sales
for the year ended 31 March 2008
increased by 12.8% to US$6,036,000
(2007: US$5,353,000).  The Group
recorded an operating profit of US$78,000
(2007: loss of US$109,000) in this market.
The Group had 50 retail shops (2007: 50
shops) in the Philippines as at 31 March
2008 wi th to ta l  re tai l  f loor area of
approximately 37,000 square feet (2007:
37,000 square feet).

Singapore and Malaysia
The Singapore and Malaysia market
generated a turnover of US$16,502,000
(2007: US$19,830,000), representing
about 6.0% (2007: 7.7%) of the total
turnover of the Group. Due to an intensified
competi t ive retai l  environment, sales
generated in the Singapore and Malaysia
market for the year ended 31 March 2008
decreased by 16.8% to US$16,502,000
(2007: US$19,830,000). The operation
sustained an operating loss for the year
ended 31 March 2008 amounted to
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

US$2,108,000 (2007: US$1,692,000).
Some of the under-performing shops had
been closed down in order to improve
overall efficiency of the operation. The
Group  had  a l so  s t r eng t hened  i t s
management team and merchandising
function of this operation and there had
been improvement in the performance in
the second half of the fiscal year. The Group
had 48 retail shops (2007: 52 shops) as at
31 March 2008 with total retail floor area
of approximately 42,700 square feet (2007:
45,400 square feet).

Hong Kong and Macau
Competition remained keen and operating
costs remained at a high level in this market.
During the year, the Group closed some of
the less profitable shops and relocated some
of its shops in this market. As a result, sales
generated in Hong Kong and Macau
decreased slightly by 2.2% and amounted
to US$5,855,000 (2007: US$5,986,000)
while operating loss reduced significantly
b y  56%  t o  US$855 ,000  ( 2007 :
US$1,943,000). As Hong Kong is a major
travellers’ hub and business centre and
Macau has become a major  tour i s t
attraction, this operation has enhanced the
image and visibility of the Group’s brand
and faci l i tated the development and
expansion of the Group’s distribution
business.

Mainland China
The Group believed that significant brand
awareness and recognit ion had been
established in China through the Group’s
licensee’s distribution network in the past
few years. The Group decided to acquire
the retail operation of the licensee in China
in October 2007. The Group has expanded
the retail network in China significantly since
October 2007 and there were 98 retail
shops as at 31 March 2008 with a total
retail floor area of about 62,000 square
feet.

Sales generated from this operation since
the acquisition by the Group amounted to
about US$3,300,000 and the operation
attained a small operating profit for the year
under review. While the contribution from
this operation was not significant for the
year as the scale of the retail network was
small, the Group believes that the Mainland
China market offers a good opportunity and
potential for growth.

Licensing Operation
Through the licensing of the proprietary
trademarks owned by the Group, the
licensing operation continued to provide a
steady royalty revenue stream to the Group.
The Group has granted to third party
licensees the right in specified territories to
manufacture and sell or distribute products
bearing the proprietary marks such as
“Hang Ten” owned by the Group. In return,
the Group receives licensing fees or royalties
from those licensees. For the year ended
31 March 2008, revenue generated from
the l icensing operat ion amounted to
US$3,704,000 (2007: US$3,910,000) and
represented about 1.4% (2007: 1.5%) of
the Group’s total turnover.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
As at 31 March 2008, 982,250,000
ordinary shares were in issue. Total equity
amounted to US$88,501,000 (2007:
US$73,170,000) as at 31 March 2008.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

L IQUIDITY AND F INANCIAL
RESOURCES
The Group generally financed its operation
by internally generated cash flow and
banking facilities provided by its banks.

For the year ended 31 March 2008, the
Group generated US$27,151,000 (2007:
US$14,627,000) of cash from operations.
As at 31 March 2008, the Group had cash
and  bank  ba lance s  amoun t i ng  t o
US$23,767,000 (2007: US$15,930,000)
and l is ted funds, which were readily
conver t ib le  in to cash,  amounted to
US$16,452,000 (2007: US$10,798,000).

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had
financial facil i t ies provided by banks
a m o u n t i n g  t o  a p p r o x i m a t e l y
US$22,451,000, of which US$2,741,000
had been utilized. Certain of the banking
facilities were secured by the pledge of land
and building with a net book value of
US$1,053,000. Total indebtedness as at
31 March 2008, comprising bank loans of
US$2,741,000 (2007: US$638,000) and
loans from shareholders of US$16,400,000
(2007: US$16,400,000) amounted to
US$19,141,000 (2007: US$17,038,000)
and represented 12.6% (2007: 13.3%) of
the total assets of the Group.

The loans from shareholders are unsecured
and are due for repayment in the year
2011.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group had certain contingent liabilities
with respect of value-added tax penalty in
Taiwan. Having taken relevant professional
advices, no provision has been made for
those contingent liabilities.

HUMAN RESOURCES
As at 31 March 2008, the Group had
approximately 1,930 full time employees.
About 1,630 employees were engaged in
sales and marketing functions. The Group
o f f e r s  i t s  emp l oyee s  compe t i t i v e
remuneration packages based on industry’s
practices and performance of individual
employees. The Company had also adopted
a share option scheme to which employees
may participate. 9,600,000 options granted
to certain employees of the Group remained
outstanding as at 31 March 2008.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Chan Wing Sun, aged 60, received a
Bachelor’s degree from the University of
Manchester, United Kingdom in 1970 and
qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 1973.
Mr. Chan is also an executive director and
the chief executive officer of YGM Trading
Limited, and a director of Yangtzekiang
Garment Manufacturing Company Limited,
both of the companies are listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Mr. Chan is the Chairman of the
Company and is responsible for the strategic
planning and overall policy of the Group. He
joined the Group in 1991.

Kenneth Hung, aged 41, is the Chief
Executive Officer of the Group and has
overall responsibility for the Group’s global
operations. Mr. Hung graduated from the
University of Minnesota in United States and
has over 15 years ’ experience in the
apparel retailing industry. He joined the
Group in 1992. Mr. Hung is a director of
Asian Wide Services Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Mr. Hung is
the son of Mr. Kung Ging Kong Dennis.

Kao Yu Chu , aged 51, is the Chief
Operations Officer of the Group’s operation
in Taiwan and has overall responsibility in
the area of product development, sales,
advertising and marketing. She started her
career in the apparel retailing industry as
a shop manager and worked her way up to
her existing position. She has over 26 years
of experience in the apparel retailing
industry. She joined the Group in 1993.

Wang Li Wen, aged 55, joined the Group
in 1993. She is the Chief Financial Officer
of the Group’s operation in Taiwan and
has overall responsibility in the area of
administration, finance, personnel and EDP
development. She graduated from Tam Kang
University in Taiwan with a bachelor degree
in economics and has over 26 years of
experience in the apparel retailing industry.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS
Cheung Yat Hung Alton, aged 45,
graduated from the California College of
Arts and Crafts, Berkeley with a bachelor
degree in fine arts. Mr. Cheung has over
10 years ’  experience in trading and
distribution business in China. Mr. Cheung
currently holds directorships in a number of
private companies engaging in automobile
distribution in China.

Kwong Chi Keung J.P., aged 54, is
qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong,
England, Australia (Victoria) and Singapore.
Mr. Kwong is a senior partner of Sit Fung
Kwong and Shum. His main areas of
practice include intellectual properties,
banking, public and private corporate
transactions, China projects and complex
commercial litigation. Mr. Kwong is a Senior
Vice President of the Asian Patent Attorneys
Association, a World Intellectual Property
Organisat ion appointed Neutra l  for
Alternative Dispute Resolution and Uniform
Domain Name Dispute Resolution Policy
Panelist, Fellow of the Chartered Institute of
Arbitrations (London) and Hong Kong
Institute of Arbitrators and a Notary Public.
Mr. Kwong was also the former Deputy
Chairman of the Copyright Tribunal of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
and is a Justice of the Peace.

So Hon Cheung Stephen, aged 52, is
a director of the accounting firm T.M. Ho,
So & Leung CPA Limited. He is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Insti tute of
Certified Public Accountants, a member of
the Canadian Ins t i tu te of  Char tered
Accountants, a member of the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants and a
member of  the Socie ty  o f  Cer t i f ied
Management Accountants of Canada. He
holds a bachelor degree in commerce from
the University of British Columbia, Canada
and is a visi t ing professor of various
univers i t ies and col leges in Bei j ing,
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (continued)

Liaoning, Sichuan, Xinjiang, Qinghai and
Guangdong in China. He has over 14
years,  experience in manufactur ing,
wholesale and trading in the commercial
sector and over 17 years’ experience of
private accounting practice in various
companies in Hong Kong and Canada. Mr.
So is also an independent non-executive
director of Pine Technology Holdings Limited
and Skyworth Digital Holdings Limited, both
of which are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. He also acts as
Finance Director of Jetion Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the AIM of the London
Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Kung, Ging Kong Dennis, aged 66, is
the general  manager of  the Taiwan
operation of the Group. He joined the
Group in 1993. Mr. Kung has extensive
experience in the garment industry. Mr.
Kung is the father of Mr. Kenneth Hung.

Shivkumar Ramanathan, aged 40, is
the general manager of the Group’s Korea
operation. Prior to this he served as the
president of the Group’s overseas retailing
and franchising operations. He graduated
from the University of Bombay with a
Bachelor degree in Commerce and is also
qualified as a Chartered Financial Analyst.
Before joining the Group in 1997, he
worked as a financial controller for two well-
known companies in Hong Kong for more
than 5 years.

Daniel Chin ,  aged 40, is the chief
operation officer of the Group’s operation
in Southeast Asia. He has more than 12
years of experience in the field of retail
operat ion. He completed his col lege
education at Institute of Technology, Sydney,
Australia majored in accounting. He joined
the Group in 1997.

Jeffrey Chen, aged 56, is the chief
executive officer of the Group’s operation
in Mainland China. Mr. Chen has over 31
years of experience in the garment retail
industry in the Greater China region and
South Eastern Asia. He joined the Group in
2007.

Chuang Yu Sheng, aged 36, is the chief
operation officer of the Group’s operation
in Mainland China. He graduated from the
National Taiwan University with a Bachelor
of Arts degree. He joined the Group in
2007 and had over 12 years’ experience
in the garment industry and general trading
and distribution industry in Mainland China
and Taiwan.

Lee Kin Keung Lawrence, aged 48, is
the company secretary of the Company and
chief financial officer of the Group. He
joined the Group in April 2003. Mr. Lee is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and is also a
member of CPA Australia. He obtained a
Master of Commerce degree and a bachelor
of Commerce degree from the University of
New South Wales, Australia. He also holds
a Master of Applied Finance degree from
the Macquarie University, Australia. Mr. Lee
has over 20 years of  exper ience in
accounting, auditing and corporate finance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board of directors (the “Board”) is
committed to uphold a high corporate
governance standard with a formal and
transparent procedure to protect the interests
of the Company.

The Group’s corporate governance practices
comply with all the code provisions of the
Code (“Code”) of Corporate Governance
Practices set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
(“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities in The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board recognises its responsibility to
act in the best interest of the Company and
its shareholders. The Board comprises four
executive directors and three independent
non-executive directors.

Executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Wing Sun (Chairman)
Mr. Kenneth Hung (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Kao Yu Chu
Ms. Wang Li Wen

Independent Non-Executive
Directors:
Mr. Cheung Yat Hung Alton
Mr. Kwong Chi Keung
Mr. So Hon Cheung Stephen

The Board sets the Group’s objectives and
strategic direct ions and oversees i ts
operating financial performance. It also
decides on matters including annual and
interim results, audited financial statements,
directors’ appointment and re-appointment,
major acquisitions and disposals, material
con t rac t s ,  r i sk  management ,  major
financings and borrowings and dividend
policies. In addit ion, the Board also
discusses major operational and financial
issues. Decisions and conduct of matters
other than those specifically reserved by the
Board are delegated to management.

Regular meetings of the Board are held.
Agenda of Board meetings and Board
papers are circulated to all directors before
each Board meeting to ensure timely access
to relevant information. Board minutes are
circulated to all directors for review and
comment within a reasonable time after the
meetings to ensure accurate records of
Board discuss ion and decis ions are
maintained. The Company held four full
Board meetings during the year and
attendance of the full Board meetings are
as follows:

Number of Number of
meetings meetings

Directors  held attended

Mr. Chan Wing Sun 4 4
Mr. Kenneth Hung 4 4
Ms. Kao Yu Chu 4 4
Ms. Wang Li Wen 4 4
Mr. Cheung Yat Hung Alton* 4 4
Mr. Kwong Chi Keung* 4 4
Mr. So Hon Cheung Stephen* 4 4

* Independent non-executive directors

The Board has received from each of the
independent non-executive directors a
confirmation of his independence from the
Company in accordance with the guidelines
on director independence set out in the
Listing Rules. The Company considers that
all independent non-executive directors of
the Company are independent.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER
To improve independency and division of
functions, the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer are segregated and are
exercised by two individuals separately.

The Chairman Mr. Chan Wing Sun, is
responsible for ensuring that the Board
functions effectively and smoothly. The
Chairman is also responsible for overseeing
the strategic planning and overall policy of
the Group. Mr. Kenneth Hung is the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. He is
responsible for overseeing the day-to-day
operation of the Group.

TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
All the independent non-executive directors
have been appointed for a specific term of
one year. All the directors including the
independent non-executive directors are
subject to retirement from office by rotation
in accordance with the bye-laws of the
Company.

APPOINTMENT AND SUCCESSION
PLANNING OF DIRECTORS
The procedures and process of appointment,
re-election and removal of directors are set
out in the bye- laws of the Company.
According to the bye-laws, at least one-third
of the directors including the Chairman and
Managing Director, are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meetings of the Company. All
directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at annual general meetings
at least once every three years. All directors
appointed by the Board during the year to
fill casual vacancies are required to retire
and subject themselves for re-election at the
first general meeting after their appointment.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS
The Company has not es tabl ished a
nomination committee and the full Board is
involved in the appointment of directors.

The Board as a whole is responsible for
rev iewing  the  Board  compos i t i on ,
developing and formulating the relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment
of directors, monitoring the appointment of
directors and assessment of independence
of independent non-executive directors.

The Board is responsible for considering
the suitability of a candidate to act as a
director and approving and recommending
the termination of the appointment of a
director.

No nomination of new director has been
considered by the board of directors during
the year.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has establ ished the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee
with mandate to oversee particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. Each of these two
Board committees is set up with written terms
of reference. The Board committees are
provided with suf f icient resources to
discharge their duties and are able to seek
independent  profess ional  advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expenses.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises
three independent non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Kwong Chi Keung (Chairman
of the Remuneration Commit tee), Mr.
Cheung Yat Hung Alton and Mr. So Hon
Cheung Stephen and two executive directors
namely Mr. Chan Wing Sun and Mr.
Kenneth Hung.
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The pr incipal  responsibi l i t ies of  the
Remuneration Committee include reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for
all remuneration of directors and senior
management.

During the year, two meetings of the
Remuneration Committee were held to
rev iew and d i scus s  t he  po l i cy  fo r
remuneration of directors and senior
management. The attendance records of
each Remuneration Committee members are
as follows:

Number of Number of
meetings meetings

Members held attended

Mr. Chan Wing Sun 2 2
Mr. Cheung Yat Hung Alton 2 2
Mr. Kenneth Hung 2 2
Mr. Kwong Chi Keung 2 2
Mr. So Hon Cheung Stephen 2 2

Audit Committee
The Company has established an Audit
Committee with written terms of reference.
The Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive directors namely
Mr. So Hon Cheung Stephen (the Chairman
of the Audit Committee), Mr. Kwong Chi
Keung and Mr. Cheung Yat Hung Alton.

The main duties of the Audit Committee
include review of the Group’s financial
information and oversight the Group’s
financial reporting process and internal
control procedures. It is responsible for
reviewing interim and final results of the
Group prior to recommending them to the
Board for approval. It also meets regularly
with the external auditors to discuss their
audit work and view. The Audit Committee
also reviews the relationship with the
external auditors.

The number of meetings of the Audit
Committee held and attended by each of
the Audit Committee members during the
year are as follows:

Number of Number of
meetings meetings

Members held attended

Mr. Cheung Yat Hung Alton 2 2
Mr. Kwong Chi Keung 2 2
Mr. So Hon Cheung Stephen 2 2

The Audit Committee held meetings to
review the financial results and internal
control process of the Group. I t  also
reviewed the external auditors’ report on
the audit of the Group’s financial statements.

During the year, the Board has not taken
any view that is different from that of the
Aud i t  Commi t t ee  nor  re jec ted  any
recommendation presented by the Audit
Committee.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for overseeing
the preparation of financial statements of
the Group and ensure that the financial
statements are prepared in accordance with
all relevant statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards.

The statement of external auditors of the
C o m p a n y  a b o u t  t h e i r  r e p o r t i n g
responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s
Report” on page 24.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
During the year, the remuneration payable
or paid to the Group’s auditors KPMG
amounted to US$292,000 of  which
US$268,000 was in relation to statutory
audit work of the Group and US$24,000
was for non-audit services rendered.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS
The Group has adopted a code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by directors
on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealing as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiries of all the directors, the directors
have complied with such code of conduct
throughout the year ended 31 March 2008.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board has overall responsibility for the
Group’s internal control system. The internal
control system of the Group includes a
def ined management  s t ruc tu re  wi th
appropriate segregation of functions and
duties. It includes procedures to safeguard
asse ts  agains t  unauthor ized use or
disposition and maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information. The internal
control system is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss. A
review of the Group’s internal control system
has been conducted during the year to
ensure the effectiveness and adequacy of
the internal control system.

The Group has established an appropriate
organizat ion s t ruc ture wi th  def ined
operat ing pol ic ies  and procedures,
responsibility and line of authority. Senior
management are delegated with respective
levels of authori t ies to carry out the
corporate strategies of the Group as well
as to exercise effective control and review
of business performance.

Operation budgets are prepared by the
operational units and reviewed by the senior
management before implementat ion.
Relevant procedures are adopted to assess,
review and approve major capital and
recurring expenditures and for comparison
and review of actual operating results and
budget.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS
The Board endeavours to maintain an on-
going dialogue wi th the Company ’s
shareholders. All directors are encouraged
to attend the general meetings to have
pe r sona l  commun i ca t i on  w i t h  t he
shareholders. In annual general meeting,
the Chairman of the Board is required to
attend and answer questions from the
shareholders in respect of the matters the
Board is responsible and accountable for.
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The directors present their report and the
audited financial statements of Hang Ten
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company acts as an investment holding
company.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries
are the design, marketing, retail and
wholesale of apparels and trademark
licensing. Details of the principal activities
of the Group’s principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 35 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2008 are se t  ou t  in  the
consolidated income statement on page 26.

The directors recommend the payment to
the ordinary shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the
Company on 5 September 2008 of a final
dividend at Hong Kong cent 6.0 per share
(2007: Hong Kong cent 5.0 per share),
equivalent to approximately United States
cent 0.77 per share (2007: United States
cent 0.64 per share) and of a special
dividend at Hong Kong cent 1.0 per share
(2007: Hong Kong cent nil per share),
equivalent to approximately United States
cent 0.13 per share (2007: United States
cent nil per share), amounting to a total
amount of approximately HK$68,757,500
( e q u i v a l e n t  t o  a p p r o x i m a t e l y
US$8,866,000).

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements during the year in the
share capital of the Company are set out in
note 29 to the financial statements.

RESERVES
Profit for the year, before dividends, of
US$21,586,000 (2007: US$13,920,000)
have been transferred to reserves. Other
movements in the reserves of the Group and
of the Company are set out in note 29 to
the financial statements.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL
INFORMATION
A summary of the results and of the assets
and liabilities of the Group for the past five
years is set out on pages 99 and 100.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in note
12 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE
CONTRACTS
The directors of the Company during the
year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors:
Mr. Chan Wing Sun (Chairman)
Mr. Kenneth Hung (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Kao Yu Chu
Ms. Wang Li Wen

Independent non-executive
directors:
Mr. Cheung Yat Hung Alton
Mr. Kwong Chi Keung
Mr. So Hon Cheung Stephen

In accordance with Clause 87 of the
Company’s bye-laws, Mr. Chan Wing Sun,
Ms. Kao Yu Chu and Mr. So Hon Cheung
Stephen shall retire, and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.
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Ms. Kao Yu Chu has entered into service
agreements with certain subsidiaries of the
Company for  a term of  three years
commencing from 1 April 2007.

Other than disclosed above, none of the
directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN
SECURITIES
As at 31 March 2008, the interests of the
directors and their associates, as defined
in the Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
o f  Hong Kong L im i ted  ( t he  “S tock
Exchange”), in the shares of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”), as recorded
in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Companies (“Model Code”) were as
follows:

As
approximate

percentage
of total

Number of issued
Name of Nature of ordinary ordinary
director interests shares held shares

Mr. Kenneth Hung Personal 36,200,000 3.69%
Ms. Kao Yu Chu Personal 9,000,000 0.92%
Ms. Wang Li Wen Personal 9,000,000 0.92%

Other than disclosed above, none of the
directors and chief  execut ive of the
Company and their associates had any
interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or  any  o f  i t s  assoc ia ted
corporation (within the meaning of the SFO)
that was required to be recorded pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as
at 31 March 2008.

At no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any director or to their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age,
or were any such rights exercised by them;
or  was the  Company or  any o f  i t s
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS
The directors have conf i rmed to the
Company that they are not interested in any
business apart from the Group’s business,
which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly with the Group’s
business.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed below in the section
h e a d e d  “ C o n t i n u i n g  C o n n e c t e d
T r a n s a c t i o n s ”  a n d  “ C o n n e c t e d
Transactions”, no contracts of significance
to which the Company or any of i ts
subsidiaries was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly and indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Pursuant to a writ ten resolution of the
Company passed on 24 October 2002, the
Company adopted a share option scheme.
No option was granted during the year.

Particulars of the Company’s share option
schemes are set out in note 24 to the
financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
AND OTHER PERSON’S
INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY’S
SECURITIES
As at 31 March 2008, the register of the
substantial shareholders and other persons
maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO showed that the
following shareholders had notified the
Company of relevant interests and short
positions in the issued ordinary shares of
the Company:

As
approximate

percentage
of total

Number of issued
ordinary ordinary

Name Capacity shares shares

Asian Wide Beneficial 369,886,000 37.66%
Services Limited owner

YGM Trading Beneficial 201,200,000 20.48%
Limited owner

Other than disclosed above, the Company
has not been notif ied of any relevant
interests or short positions in the issued
ordinary shares of the Company as at 31
March 2008.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES,
WARRANTS AND SIMILAR
RIGHTS
The  Company  had no  ou t s tand ing
convertible securities, warrants and similar
rights as at 31 March 2008 and there has
been no exercise of any convert ible
securities, warrants or similar rights during
the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR
REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
There had been no purchase, sale or
redemption by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries of the Company’s listed shares
during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive
rights under the Company’s bye-laws, or
the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS
During the year, the Group has engaged in
certain transactions which consti tuted
connected transactions with respect to the
Group under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Details of the transactions are as
follows:

1. Sales to a non-wholly owned
subsidiary
Hang Ten En te rpr i ses  L imi ted
(“HTEL”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, supplied apparel
and accessories to Hang Ten Phils,
Corp. on an open account basis with
credit terms of approximately 30
days for retailing in the Philippines.
Hang Ten Phils, Corp. is a non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
held as to 55% by ILC International
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Corporation (“ILC”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. The
remaining 45% of Hang Ten Phils,
Corp is collectively held by Mr. Chua
Kun Yao, Mr. William T. De Leon,
Mr. Johnny Tan and Ms, Nancy C.
L im  ( co l l e c t i v e l y  “Chua  and
company”) and save for Ms. Nancy
C. Lim, each of them is a director of
Hang Ten Phils, Corp. For the year
ended 31 March 2008, sales by
HTEL to Hang Ten Phi l s ,  Corp
amounted to about US$2,465,000.

2. Sales to substantial
shareholders of Hang Ten
Phils, Corp
During the year ended 31 March
2008, HTEL so ld appare l  and
a c c e s s o r i e s  a m o u n t e d  t o
approximately US$1,178,000 on
open account basis with credit term
of approximately 30 days to Chua
and company, being the substantial
shareholders of Hang Ten Phils,
Corp., and their associates (as
defined in the List ing Rules) for
distribution by them through door-to-
door sales network in the Philippines.

3. License to Hang Ten (China)
Group Limited
Pursuant to a license agreement
dated 23 May 2005 between ILC
and Hang Ten (China) Group Limited
(“Hang Ten (China)”), a company
which is principally engaged in
retailing business in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), ILC
granted an exclusive license to Hang
Ten (China) to use in the PRC the
word “Hang Ten” and associated
t r a d e m a r k s  i n  t h e  d e s i g n ,
manufacturing, advertising, sale and
promotion of clothing, footwear,
headwear and other accessories (the
“Licensed Items”).

Prior to the acquisition of Hang Ten
(China) by the Group in October
2007,  Hang Ten (China)  was
beneficially owned as to 73% by
Asian Wide Services Limited, 25%
by YGM Trading Limited, 1% by Ms.
Wang Li Wen, a director of the
Company and 1% by Ms. Kao Yu
Chu, a director of the Company.

Pursuant to the license agreement,
Hang Ten (China) is required to pay
to ILC royalty accounted for on a
quarterly basis that is equal to 2.5%
of Hang Ten (China)’s total net sales
to consumers for the Licensed Items.
In addition, Hang Ten (China) is
required to pay ILC on a quarterly
basis as advertising contribution a
sum equal to 2.5% of Hang Ten
(China)’s total net sales. ILC acquired
the entire issued capital of Hang Ten
(China) in October 2007. The total
r o ya l t y  f e e  and  adve r t i s i ng
contribution receivable by ILC from
Hang Ten (China) amounted to
approximately US$82,000 for the
period from 1 April 2007 to 22
Oc t obe r  2007 ,  t h e  da t e  o f
acquisition of Hang Ten (China) by
ILC.

The directors (including the independent
non-executive directors) have reviewed and
confirmed that the transactions referred to
above:

1. have been entered in to in the
ordinary and usual course of its
business of the Group;

2. have been conducted on normal
commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms
available to or from (as appropriate)
independent third parties; and
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3. were in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of
the Company and its shareholders
taken as a whole.

The directors have received the auditors’
confirmation as required under Rule 14A.38
of the Listing Rule.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1. Acquisition of Hang Ten (China)
In October 2007, ILC entered into
an agreement with Accurate Sino
Developments Limited (“Accurate
Sino”). Pursuant to the agreement, ILC
agreed to acquire from Accurate Sino
the entire issued share capital of
Hang  Ten  (Ch ina )  a t  a  cash
consideration of US$1,250,000.
Completion of the transaction took
place upon signing of the agreement.
Hang Ten (China) was principally
engaged in the sale of apparel and
accessories bearing the trademark
“Hang  Ten ”  and  a s soc ia t ed
trademarks in China. Accurate Sino
was an investment holding company
and was indirectly owned as to 73%
by Asian Wide Services Limited, 25%
by YGM Trading Limited, 1% by Ms.
Wang Li Wen and the remaining 1%
by Ms. Kao Yu Chu (both executive
directors).

2. Advisory Service Agreement
with Fidelity Capital Limited
On 18 Sep tember  2007,  t he
Company entered into an agreement
with Fidelity Capital Limited (“Fidelity
Capital”) in relation to the provision
of advisory services by Fideli ty
Capital to the Company on the
Group’s future expansion strategy.

The Company has the r ight  to
terminate the appointment of Fidelity
Capital i f s trategic cooperation
cannot be concluded with any target
within 12 months from the date of
the agreement. The total service fee
payable under the agreement is
ca l c u l a t ed  a t  1 .25% o f  t h e
consideration paid or received by the
Company in relation to the formation
of strategic cooperation with any
target identified and negotiated by
Fidelity Capital and the service fee
shall not exceed 2.5% of each of the
marke t  cap i t a l i sa t i on  o f  t he
Company, total assets of the Group,
annual turnover of the Group, and
total issued shares, calculated based
on the Group ’s latest published
financial statements or information at
the time of signing of the agreement.
Based on such information, the
maximum aggregate fee payable
s h a l l  b e  a p p r o x i m a t e l y
HK$16,000,000 (approximately
US$2,060,000). No specific target
has been ident i f ied so far and
accordingly no service fee has been
paid to Fidel i ty Capital by the
Company. Fidelity Capital is owned
as to 50% by Mr. Chan Wing Sun,
an  execu t i ve  d i r ec to r  o f  t he
Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS
The business of the Group is retail in nature
and the sales to the 5 largest customers
amounted to less than 30% of the Group’s
turnover for the year ended 31 March
2008. Accordingly, details of the largest
customer and the five largest customers are
not disclosed. During the year, the Group’s
largest and top five suppliers accounted for
approximately 12.6% and 37.2% of the
Group’s purchases respectively.
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None of the directors, their associates or
shareholders which to the knowledge of the
di rec tors  own more than 5% of  the
Company’s issued share capital has any
interest in any of the Group’s five largest
suppliers.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER
BORROWINGS
Par t icu lars of  bank loans and other
borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2008 are set out in note 21 and note 27 to
the financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEME
The Group operates a defined benefit
retirement scheme which covers about 30%
of the Group’s employees and defined
contribution retirement schemes. Particulars
of the retirement scheme are set out in note
23 to the financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company has complied with the Code
of Corporate Governance Practices as
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 March
2008. A report on the principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out on pages 14 to 17.

The Company has adopted a code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by
directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model
Code. Having made specific enquiry of all
directors, all directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code and the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by
directors adopted by the Company.

The Company has received, from each of
the independent non-executive directors, an
annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The  Company cons ider s  a l l  o f  t he
independent non-executive directors are
independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy for employees of the
Group is set by the board of directors on
the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The  Company has  a  Remunera t ion
Committee with written terms of reference
to review the emolument policy of the
Group.

The emoluments of the directors of the
Company are decided by the Remuneration
Committee of the Company, having regard
to the Company ’s operat ing resul ts ,
individual performance, time commitment,
responsibil i ty and comparable market
statistics.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
The Company has maintained a sufficient
public float throughout the year ended 31
March 2008.

AUDITORS
A resolution will be submitted to the annual
general meeting to re-appoint Messrs. KPMG
as auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Wing Sun
Chairman

Hong Kong
15 July 2008
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Hang Ten Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hang Ten Group Holdings
Limited (“the Company”) set out on pages 26 to 98, which comprise the consolidated and
Company balance sheets as at 31 March 2008, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2008 and of the Group’s
profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong
15 July 2008
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in United States dollars)

2008 2007
Note $’000 $’000

Turnover 3 274,294 257,616

Cost of sales (116,139) (113,355)

Gross profit 158,155 144,261

Other revenue 4 4,027 4,857

Other net income 4 1,710 697

Selling expenses (115,558) (109,425)

Administrative expenses (19,724) (17,511)

Other operating expenses (190) (2,865)

Profit from operations 28,420 20,014

Finance costs 5(a) (1,035) (1,021)

Profit before taxation 5 27,385 18,993

Income tax 6(a) (5,799) (5,073)

Profit for the year 21,586 13,920

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 9 & 29 21,563 13,952
Minority interests 29 23 (32)

Profit for the year 29 21,586 13,920

Dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company
attributable to the year: 10

Final dividend proposed after the balance
sheet date 7,600 6,333

Special dividend proposed after the balance
sheet date 1,266 –

8,866 6,333

Earnings per share 11

Basic 2.20 cents 1.42 cents

Diluted 2.20 cents 1.42 cents

The notes on pages 33 to 98 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
At 31 March 2008 (Expressed in United States dollars)

2008 2007
Note $’000 $’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 11,227 9,725
Goodwill 13 9,495 8,989
Intangible assets 15 17,882 17,711
Deferred tax assets 26(b) 4,062 3,843

42,666 40,268
------------------------ ------------------------

Current assets

Investments 16 16,452 10,798
Inventories 17 36,218 32,881
Trade and other receivables 18 33,297 27,839
Amounts due from related companies 25 64 184
Cash and cash equivalents 20 23,767 15,930

109,798 87,632
------------------------ ------------------------

Current liabilities

Bank loans 21 2,741 638
Trade and other payables 22 30,527 24,341
Amounts due to shareholders 25 1,177 813
Current taxation 26(a) 6,869 5,186

41,314 30,978
------------------------ ------------------------

Net current assets 68,484 56,654
------------------------ ------------------------

Total assets less current liabilities 111,150 96,922
------------------------ ------------------------

Non-current liabilities

Loans from shareholders 27 16,400 16,400
Deferred income 28 5,900 7,080
Employee benefits 23(a) 349 272

22,649 23,752
------------------------ ------------------------

NET ASSETS 88,501 73,170
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (continued)
At 31 March 2008 (Expressed in United States dollars)

2008 2007
Note $’000 $’000

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 29(a)

Share capital 12,593 12,593
Reserves 74,938 59,759

Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 87,531 72,352

Minority interests 970 818

TOTAL EQUITY 88,501 73,170

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 15 July 2008

)
)
)
)

Chan Wing Sun ) Directors
)
)
)

Kenneth Hung )

The notes on pages 33 to 98 form part of these financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEET
At 31 March 2008 (Expressed in United States dollars)

2008 2007
Note $’000 $’000

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 14 30,339 30,339
------------------------ ------------------------

Current assets

Other receivables 18 17 17
Amount due from a subsidiary 19 9,400 6,800
Cash and cash equivalents 20 13 21

9,430 6,838
------------------------ ------------------------

Current liabilities

Other payables 22 141 134
Amount due to a subsidiary 19 1,472 1,498

1,613 1,632
------------------------ ------------------------

Net current assets 7,817 5,206
------------------------ ------------------------

NET ASSETS 38,156 35,545

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 29(b)

Share capital 12,593 12,593
Reserves 25,563 22,952

TOTAL EQUITY 38,156 35,545

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 15 July 2008

)
)
)
)

Chan Wing Sun ) Directors
)
)
)

Kenneth Hung )

The notes on pages 33 to 98 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in United States dollars)

2008 2007
Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Total equity at 1 April 2007/
1 April 2006 29 73,170 67,811

------------------- -------------------

Net income recognised
directly in equity:

Exchange differences on translation
of financial statements of
overseas subsidiaries 29 860 458

Net income for the year
recognised directly in equity 860 458

Transfer from equity:

Exchange reserve realised on
capital reduction of subsidiary 29 (782) (619)

Net profit for the year 29 21,586 13,920

Total recognised income and
expense for the year 21,664 13,759

------------------- -------------------

Attributable to:
– Equity shareholders of the

Company 21,512 13,742
– Minority interests 152 17

21,664 13,759
------------------- -------------------

Dividends declared or approved
during the year 29 (6,333) (6,350)

------------------- -------------------

Movements in equity arising
from capital transaction:

Redemption of capital of a
subsidiary from minority
shareholder 29 – (2,050)

– (2,050)
------------------- -------------------

Total equity at 31 March 2008/
31 March 2007 29 88,501 73,170

The notes on pages 33 to 98 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in United States dollars)

2008 2007
Note $’000 $’000

Operating activities

Profit before taxation 27,385 18,993

Adjustments for:
– Depreciation 5(c) 4,638 4,294
– Amortisation of intangible assets 5(c) 26 –
– Finance costs 5(a) 1,035 1,021
– Interest income 4 (663) (575)
– Net (gain)/loss on sale of property,

plant and equipment 4 (136) 332
– Net realised and unrealised gains on

listed funds 4 (185) (130)
– Exchange reserve realised on capital

reduction of subsidiary 782 619
– Foreign exchange gain (2,503) (1,048)

Operating profit before changes in
working capital 30,379 23,506

Increase in inventories (3,337) (3,557)
Increase in trade and other receivables (5,458) (4,346)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from

related companies 120 (33)
Increase in trade and other payables 6,186 340
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to shareholders 364 (142)
Decrease in non-current deferred income (1,180) (1,180)
Increase in employee benefits 77 39

Cash generated from operations 27,151 14,627

Tax paid (4,366) (5,518)

Net cash generated from operating
activities 22,785 9,109

------------------------ ------------------------

Investing activities

Payment for redemption of capital of a
subsidiary from minority shareholder – (2,050)

Payment for the purchase of property,
plant and equipment (6,927) (5,485)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant
and equipment 1,451 113

Payment for purchase of intangible assets – (188)
Refund of purchase of intangible assets 183 –
Payment for purchase of listed funds (23,860) (17,951)
Proceeds from sale of listed funds 19,353 17,648
Payment for acquisition of business, net

of cash acquired 31 (986) –
Interest received 699 575

Net cash used in investing activities (10,087) (7,338)
------------------------ ------------------------
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in United States dollars)

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Financing activities

Interest paid (1,035) (1,021)
Proceeds from new bank loans 2,136 –
Repayment of bank loans – (6)
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders

of the Company (6,333) (6,350)

Net cash used in financing activities (5,232) (7,377)
------------------------ ------------------------

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents 7,466 (5,606)

Cash and cash equivalents at
1 April 2007/1 April 2006 15,930 21,235

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 371 301

Cash and cash equivalents at
31 March 2008/31 March 2007 23,767 15,930

The notes on pages 33 to 98 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”). A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective
or available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group and the Company. Note 2 provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments
to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008
comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the
Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is
the historical cost basis except that financial instruments classified as financial
assets through profit or loss (see note 1(e)) and foreign currency forward
contracts (see note 1(f)) are stated at their fair values as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have
significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a significant
risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 40.

(c) Subsidiaries and minority interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the
Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential
voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised profits
arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to
the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Minority interests represent the portion of the net assets of subsidiaries
attributable to interests that are not owned by the Company, whether directly
or indirectly through subsidiaries, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those interests which would
result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. Minority
interests are presented in the consolidated balance sheet within equity,
separately from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Minority interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated income statement as an allocation of the total profit or loss for
the year between minority interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.

Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the minority’s interest in the
equity of a subsidiary, the excess, and any further losses applicable to the
minority, are charged against the Group’s interest except to the extent that
the minority has a binding obligation to, and is able to, make additional
investment to cover the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits,
the Group’s interest is allocated all such profits until the minority’s share of
losses previously absorbed by the Group has been recovered.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Subsidiaries and minority interests (continued)

Loans from holders of minority interests and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheet in accordance with notes 1(m) or (n) depending on the nature
of the liability.

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at
cost less impairment losses (see note 1(j)), unless the investment is classified
as held for sale.

(d) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination over
the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
allocated to cash-generating units and is tested annually for impairment (see
note 1(j)).

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of a
business combination is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(e) Investments in securities
Investments in securities classified as financial assets through profit or loss
are included under current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At each balance sheet date the fair
value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not
include any dividends or interest earned on these investments as these are
recognised in accordance with the policies set out in notes 1(s)(v) and (vi).

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investments or they expire.

(f) Foreign currency forward contracts
Foreign currency forward contracts, which do not qualify for hedge
accounting, are recognised initially at fair value. At each balance sheet date
the fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value
is charged immediately to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated in the balance sheet at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note 1(j)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment are determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit
or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant
and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

– Freehold land is not depreciated.

– Buildings situated on freehold land are depreciated over their estimated
useful lives of 40 to 55 years after the date of completion.

– Leasehold improvements 3 to 5 years

– Motor vehicles 5 years

– Furniture, fixtures and other property,
plant and equipment 2 to 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis between
the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an
asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated in the balance
sheet at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful life is
finite) and impairment losses (see note 1(j)).

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives. Retail
network with finite useful life is amortised from the date it is available for
use over its estimated useful life of 6.5 years.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are assessed to be
indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite
is reviewed annually to determine whether events and circumstances continue
to support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted
for prospectively from the date of change and in accordance with the policy
for amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives as set out above.

(i) Operating lease charges
Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group are classified as operating leases.

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments
made under the leases are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over
the accounting periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rentals
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

(j) Impairment of assets
(i) Impairment of receivables

Receivables that are stated at cost or amortised cost are reviewed at
each balance sheet date to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment includes
observable date that comes to the attention of the Group about one or
more of the following loss events:

– significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments;

– it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; and

– significant changes in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of receivables (continued)
If any such evidence exists, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition of these assets), where the effect of discounting
is material. This assessment is made collectively where financial assets
carried at amortised cost share similar risk characteristics, such as
similar past due status, and have not been individually assessed as
impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed
for impairment collectively are based on historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result
in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses for trade debtors and royalty receivables included
within trade and other receivables whose recovery is considered
doubtful but not remote are recorded using an allowance account.
When the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount
considered irrecoverable is written off against trade debtors and royalty
receivables directly and any amounts held in the allowance account
relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account are reversed against the
allowance account. Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off directly are
recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Impairment of other assets
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each
balance sheet date to identify indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

– property, plant and equipment;

– intangible assets;

– investments in subsidiaries (except for those classified as held
for sale); and

– goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Impairment of assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (continued)
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. In addition, for goodwill and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

– Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its net
selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

– Recognition of impairment losses
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to
which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the
carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.

– Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss
in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Impairment of assets (continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an interim
financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months of the financial year. At
the end of the interim period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end of the
financial year (see notes 1(j)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill
are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case even if no
loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had the impairment
been assessed only at the end of the financial year to which the
interim period relates.

(k) Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises
all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is
recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is
recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

(l) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter
stated at amortised cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see
note 1(j)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to
related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting
would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between the
amount initially recognised and redemption value being recognised in profit
or loss over the period of the borrowings, together with any interest and fees
payable, using the effective interest method.

(n) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Except for
financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance with note 1(r)(i), trade
and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost.

(o) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

(p) Employee benefits
(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution

retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii) Defined benefit retirement plan obligations
Prior to 1 July 2005, the Group’s Taiwan subsidiaries participated in
a central pension scheme (“Old Scheme”) providing benefits to all of
their employees in accordance with the Labour Standards Law. With
effect from 1 July 2005, certain employees of the Taiwan subsidiaries
may choose to and have been transferred to a defined contribution
scheme (“New Scheme”) governed by the Labour Pension Act.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(p) Employee benefits (continued)

(ii) Defined benefit retirement plan obligations (continued)
Under the Old Scheme, the Group has an obligation to ensure that
there are sufficient funds in the scheme to pay the benefits earned for
the service years of all employees covered before transfer to the New
scheme and the subsequent service period of employees that chose to
continue to participate in the Old Scheme. The Group currently
contributes at 2% of the total salaries of participating employees as
determined and approved by the relevant government authorities. The
contributions are placed with the Central Trust of China, a government
institution.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of the Old Scheme is calculated
by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned
in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit
is discounted to determine the present value and the fair value of any
plan assets is deducted. The calculation is performed by a qualified
actuary using the projected unit credit method.

When the benefits of the Old Scheme are improved, the portion of the
increased benefit relating to past service by employees is recognised
as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the average
period until the benefits become vested. If the benefits vest immediately,
the expense is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

In calculating the Group’s obligation in respect of the Old Scheme, if
any cumulative unrecognised actuarial gain or loss exceeds ten percent
of the greater of the present value of the pension scheme obligation
and the fair value of plan assets, that portion is recognised in profit
or loss over the expected average remaining working lives of the
employees participating in the Old Scheme. Otherwise, the actuarial
gain or loss is not recognised.

Where the calculation of the Group’s net obligation results in a negative
amount, the asset recognised is limited to the net total of any cumulative
unrecognised net actuarial losses and past service costs and the present
value of any future refunds from the scheme or reductions in future
contributions to the scheme.

Under the New Scheme, the Taiwan subsidiaries contribute at 6% of
the total salaries of participating employees that chose to participate
in the New Scheme, deposited into individual pension accounts at the
Bureau of Labour Insurance.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(p) Employee benefits (continued)

(iii) Share-based payments
The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as
an employee cost with a corresponding increase in the share options
reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using
the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair value of
the options is spread over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected
to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to profit or loss for the
year of the review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for
recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the share
options reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to
the market price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the share options reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account) or the
option expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).

(q) Income tax
Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax
assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate
to items recognised directly in equity, in which case they are recognised in
equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary
differences respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(q) Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all
deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a
tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward.
The same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising
from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax
loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities
are those temporary differences arising from goodwill not deductible for tax
purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance
sheet date and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are
recognised when the liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(q) Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein,
are presented separately from each other and are not offset. Current tax
assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and the following additional conditions are met:

– in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the
Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously; or

– in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

– the same taxable entity; or

– different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.

(r) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities
(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the
guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the beneficiary of
the guarantee (“the holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with
the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the
guarantee (being the transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially recognised as deferred
income within trade and other payables. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such consideration is
received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in profit
or loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred income
is amortised in profit or loss over the term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are recognised
in accordance with note 1(r)(ii) if and when (i) it becomes probable
that the holder of the guarantee will call upon the Group under the
guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that claim on the Group is expected
to exceed the amount currently carried in trade and other payables in
respect of that guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(r) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent

liabilities (continued)
(ii) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the Group or the Company has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(s) Revenue recognition
Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:

(i) Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered to the customers
which is taken to be the point in time when the customer has accepted
the goods and the related risks and rewards of ownership. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction
of any trade discounts.

(ii) Royalty income
Royalty income is recognised in accordance with the substance of the
relevant agreements.

(iii) Rental income from operating leases
Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss in equal instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative
of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the leased
asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the accounting period
in which they are earned.

(iv) Management fee income
Management fee income is recognised when the services are rendered.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Revenue recognition (continued)

(v) Dividends
Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share
price of the investment goes ex-dividend.

(vi) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method.

(t) Translation of foreign currencies
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in the United
States dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

(ii) Translation
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.

The results of foreign operations are translated into United States
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Balance sheet items,
including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign operations
acquired on or after 1 April 2005, are translated into United States
dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised directly in a separate
component of equity. Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign
operation acquired before 1 April 2005 is translated at the foreign
exchange rate that applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign
operation.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(u) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.

(v) Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is considered to be
related to the Group if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, to control the Group or exercise significant influence
over the Group in making financial and operating policy decisions, or
has joint control over the Group;

(ii) the Group and the party are subject to common control;

(iii) the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in which the
Group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of key management personnel of the Group or
the Group’s parent, or a close family member of such an individual,
or is an entity under the control, joint control or significant influence
of such individuals;

(v) the party is a close family member of a party referred to in (i) or is an
entity under the control, joint control or significant influence of such
individuals; or

(vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for the benefit of
employees of the Group or of any entity that is a related party of the
Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members who may
be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings
with the entity.

(w) Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged
either in providing products or services (business segment), or in providing
products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those
of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting system, the Group
has chosen geographical segment information as the primary reporting format
and business segment information as the secondary reporting format for the
purposes of these financial statements.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(w) Segment reporting (continued)

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities include items directly
attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a
reasonable basis to that segment. For example, segment assets may include
inventories, trade receivables and property, plant and equipment. Segment
revenue, expenses, assets, and liabilities are determined before intra-group
balances and intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of the
consolidation process, except to the extent that such intra-group balances
and transactions are between group entities within a single segment. Inter-
segment pricing is based on similar terms as those available to other external
parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to
acquire segment assets (both tangible and intangible) that are expected to
be used for more than one period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate assets, interest-
bearing loans, borrowings, tax balances, corporate and financing expenses.

2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs and Interpretations
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company.

There have been no significant changes to the accounting policies applied in these
financial statements for the years presented as a result of these developments.
However, as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures
and the amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Capital
disclosures, there have been some additional disclosures provided as follows:

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 7, the financial statements include expanded
disclosure about the significance of the Group’s financial instruments and the nature
and extent of risks arising from those instruments, compared with the information
previously required to be disclosed by HKAS 32, Financial instruments: Disclosure
and presentation. These disclosures are provided throughout these financial
statements, in particular in note 30.

The amendments to HKAS 1 introduces additional disclosure requirements to provide
information about the level of capital and the Group’s and the Company’s objectives,
policies and processes for managing capital. These new disclosures are set out in
note 29(f).

Both HKFRS 7 and the amendments to HKAS 1 do not have any material impact on
the classification, recognition and measurement of the amounts recognised in the
financial statements.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period (see note 41).
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3 TURNOVER
The principal activities of the Group are designing, marketing and sale of apparel
and accessories under the brand name of “Hang Ten” and other brands and
licensing of trademarks.

Turnover represents the sales value of goods supplied to customers and royalty
income from licensing of trademarks. The amount of each significant category of
revenue recognised in turnover during the year is as follows:

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Sales of apparels 270,590 253,706
Royalty income 3,704 3,910

274,294 257,616

4 OTHER REVENUE AND NET INCOME

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Other revenue
Rental income 442 617
Management fee income 1,182 1,269
Bank interest income 663 575
Claims receivable from suppliers 979 725
Others 761 1,671

4,027 4,857

Other net income
Net gain/(loss) on sale of property, plant

and equipment 136 (332)
Net foreign exchange gain 1,097 728
Net realised and unrealised gains on listed funds 185 130
Others 292 171

1,710 697
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5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

(a) Finance costs:
Interest on bank advances and other

borrowings wholly repayable
within five years 50 36

Interest on shareholders’ loans 985 985

1,035 1,021

(b) Staff costs:
Contributions to defined contribution

retirement schemes 1,337 1,183
Expenses recognised in respect of defined

benefit retirement schemes (note 23(a)(v)) 59 58

Total retirement costs 1,396 1,241

Salaries and staff benefits 29,250 27,175

30,646 28,416

(c) Other items:
Amortisation of intangible assets 26 –
Depreciation 4,638 4,294
Commission to franchisees 21,940 23,166
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment losses

on trade and other receivables (120) 1,437
Net gain on forward foreign exchange

contracts (97) –
Auditors’ remuneration 268 274
Operating lease charges (including retail

shops and department store counters) 54,474 48,366
Cost of inventories (note 17(b)) 116,139 113,355
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6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement represents:

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Current tax – Overseas

Provision for the year 5,687 5,807
Under-provision in respect of prior years 362 603

6,049 6,410

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of
temporary differences (250) (1,337)

5,799 5,073

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the financial
statements as the Group sustained a loss for Hong Kong Profits Tax purposes
during the year.

Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate current
rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax
rates:

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Profit before taxation 27,385 18,993

Notional tax on profit before taxation,
calculated at the rates applicable to
profits in the countries concerned 5,778 3,626

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 190 224
Tax effect of non-taxable income (866) (456)
Tax effect of utilisation of deferred tax

assets not recognised in prior years (151) –
Tax effect of unrecognised deferred tax assets 486 1,076
Under-provision in prior years 362 603

Actual tax expense 5,799 5,073
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7 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance is as follows:

Salaries,
allowances

and Retirement
Directors’ benefits Discretionary scheme 2008

fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Executive directors
Chan Wing Sun 129 – – – 129
Hung Kenneth 1 944 – – 945
Wang Li Wen 1 193 89 6 289
Kao Yu Chu 1 216 105 6 328

Independent
non-executive
directors

So Hon Cheung
Stephen 31 – – – 31

Kwong Chi Keung 31 – – – 31
Cheung Yat Hung Alton 15 – – – 15

209 1,353 194 12 1,768

Salaries,
allowances

and Retirement
Directors’ benefits Discretionary scheme 2007

fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Executive directors
Chan Wing Sun 129 – – – 129
Hung Kenneth 1 725 – – 726
Wang Li Wen 1 180 62 6 249
Kao Yu Chu 1 201 72 6 280

Independent
non-executive
directors

So Hon Cheung
Stephen 31 – – – 31

Kwong Chi Keung 31 – – – 31
Cheung Yat Hung Alton 15 – – – 15

209 1,106 134 12 1,461



54 2008 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

8 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2007: three) are directors
whose emoluments are disclosed in note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in
respect of the other two (2007: two) individuals are as follows:

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Salaries and other emoluments 794 623
Discretionary bonuses 288 270

1,082 893

The emoluments of the two (2007: two) individuals with the highest emoluments are
within the following bands:

2008 2007
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

$384,616 – $448,718
(equivalent to HK$3,000,001 – HK$3,500,000) – 1

$448,719 – $512,820
(equivalent to HK$3,500,001 – HK$4,000,000) 1 1

$576,923 – $641,026
(equivalent to HK$4,500,001 – HK$5,000,000) 1 –

2 2

9 PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY
The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company includes
a profit of $8,944,000 (2007: $6,389,000) which has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company.
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10 DIVIDENDS
(a) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company

attributable to the year

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Final dividend proposed after the balance sheet
date of HK6.0 cents (2007: HK5.0 cents)
per ordinary share (equivalent to
approximately US0.77 cent
(2007: US0.64 cent) per ordinary share) 7,600 6,333

Special dividend proposed after the balance
sheet date of HK1.0 cent (2007: Nil)
per ordinary share (equivalent to
approximately US0.13 cent
(2007: Nil) per ordinary share) 1,266 –

8,866 6,333

The final dividend and the special dividend proposed after the balance
sheet date have not been recognised as liabilities at the balance sheet date.

(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
attributable to the previous financial year, approved and
paid during the year

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Dividend on convertible preference shares at 1% – 17
Final dividend in respect of the previous

financial year, approved and paid during
the year, of HK5.0 cents (2007: HK5.0
cents) per ordinary share (equivalent
to approximately US0.64 cent
(2007: US0.64 cent) per ordinary share) 6,333 6,333

6,333 6,350
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11 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable
to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company of $21,563,000 (2007:
$13,952,000) and the weighted average of 982,250,000 ordinary shares
(2007: 982,250,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per share as all
potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive.

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The Group

Furniture,
fixtures

Land and and other
buildings property,

held for Leasehold Motor plant and
own use improvements vehicles equipment Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost:
At 1 April 2007 2,049 7,145 562 7,557 17,313
Exchange adjustments (43) 880 39 (42) 834
Additions

– through acquisition
of business (note 31) – – – 304 304

– others 570 3,194 53 3,110 6,927
Disposals (948) (5,936) (135) (1,053) (8,072)

At 31 March 2008 1,628 5,283 519 9,876 17,306
------------ ------------ ------------ ------------ ------------

Accumulated
depreciation and
impairment loss:

At 1 April 2007 566 3,043 406 3,573 7,588
Exchange adjustments 17 630 35 (72) 610
Charge for the year 31 2,661 65 1,881 4,638
Written back on disposals (607) (5,599) (132) (419) (6,757)

At 31 March 2008 7 735 374 4,963 6,079
------------ ------------ ------------ ------------ ------------

Net book value:
At 31 March 2008 1,621 4,548 145 4,913 11,227
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
The Group (continued)

Furniture,
fixtures

Land and and other
buildings property,

held for Leasehold Motor plant and
own use improvements vehicles equipment Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost:
At 1 April 2006 2,022 5,516 507 5,357 13,402
Exchange adjustments 27 140 7 183 357
Additions – 2,532 48 2,905 5,485
Disposals – (1,043) – (888) (1,931)

At 31 March 2007 2,049 7,145 562 7,557 17,313
------------ ------------ ------------ ------------ ------------

Accumulated
depreciation and
impairment loss:

At 1 April 2006 546 778 318 2,922 4,564
Exchange adjustments (9) 121 – 104 216
Charge for the year 29 2,900 88 1,277 4,294
Written back on disposals – (756) – (730) (1,486)

At 31 March 2007 566 3,043 406 3,573 7,588
------------ ------------ ------------ ------------ ------------

Net book value:
At 31 March 2007 1,483 4,102 156 3,984 9,725

All land and buildings are located outside Hong Kong. The land is freehold. At 31
March 2008, certain land and buildings of the Group with a carrying value of
$1,053,000 (2007: $1,138,000) were pledged as security for a bank loan (note
21).
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13 GOODWILL

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Cost:
At 1 April 2007/1 April 2006 8,989 8,989
Addition through acquisition of business (note 31) 506 –

At 31 March 2008/31 March 2007 9,495 8,989

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGU”) identified
according to country of operation as follows:

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Taiwan operations 5,663 5,663
Korea operations 1,978 1,978

7,641 7,641
Multiple operations without significant goodwill 1,854 1,348

9,495 8,989

The Group completed its annual impairment test for goodwill by comparing its
recoverable amount to its carrying amount as at 31 March 2008. The recoverable
amount is determined based on value-in-use calculations.

The Group appointed independent professional valuers to conduct a valuation of
the goodwill using cashflow projections covering a five-year period, based on the
following principal financial estimates:

2008 2007

Discount rate of cashflow 15% 14%

Annual growth rate 7% to 15% 11% to 14%

Management has considered the above assumptions and the business expansion
plan and believes that there is no impairment in goodwill as at 31 March 2008.
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14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Company
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 30,339 30,339

The particulars of principal subsidiaries are set out in note 35.

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The Group

Retail
network Trademarks Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Cost:
At 1 April 2007 – 17,711 17,711
Addition through acquisition

of business (note 31) 380 – 380
Refund – (183) (183)

At 31 March 2008 380 17,528 17,908
------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 April 2007 – – –
Charge for the year 26 – 26

At 31 March 2008 26 – 26
------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------

Net book value:
At March 2008 354 17,528 17,882

Cost:
At 1 April 2006 – 17,523 17,523
Addition – 188 188

At 31 March 2007 – 17,711 17,711

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 April 2006 and

31 March 2007 – – –

Net book value:
At 31 March 2007 – 17,711 17,711
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
The amortisation charge of retail network for the year is included in “other operating
expenses” in the consolidated income statement.

The Group reassessed the useful life of trademarks at 31 March 2008 and reached
a conclusion that the acquired trademarks of “Hang Ten” continued to be regarded
as having an indefinite useful life. The assessment is based on the future financial
performance of the Group with a well known and long established fashion brand,
which generates net cash inflows indefinitely. This view is supported by an
independent professional appraiser, appointed by the Group to assess the useful
life of trademarks in accordance with the requirements of HKAS 38. Having
considered the factors specific to the Group, the appraiser opined that the “Hang
Ten” trademarks should be regarded as intangible assets with an indefinite useful
life.

The Group completed its annual impairment test for the trademarks by comparing
its recoverable amount to its carrying amount and concluded that there is no
impairment as at 31 March 2008. The impairment test is based on a valuation
conducted by the above independent professional appraiser using cashflow
projections covering a five-year period with the following principal financial
estimates:

2008 2007

Expected royalty rates from trademarks 1% to 2.3% 1% to 3%

Discount rate of cashflow 15% 14%

16 INVESTMENTS

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Listed funds in Taiwan stated at fair value 16,452 10,798
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17 INVENTORIES
(a) Inventories in the balance sheet comprise:

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Finished goods 46,038 40,377
Goods in transit 110 62

46,148 40,439
Less: Write-down of inventories (9,930) (7,558)

36,218 32,881

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense is as
follows:

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Carrying amount of inventories sold 113,767 110,231
Write-down of inventories 2,810 3,124
Reversal of write-down of inventories (438) –

116,139 113,355
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18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group The Company
2008 2007 2008 2007

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade debtors 15,608 10,564 – –
Royalty receivables 696 1,516 – –
Less: Allowance for

doubtful debts (415) (1,208) – –

15,889 10,872 – –
Forward foreign exchange

contracts 97 – – –
Rental deposits 12,622 12,601 – –
Prepayments and other

receivables 4,689 4,366 17 17

33,297 27,839 17 17

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered within one
year, except for the rental deposits.

(a) Impairment of trade debtors and royalty receivables
Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors and royalty receivables are
recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that
recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is
written off against trade debtors and royalty receivables directly (see note
1(j)(i)).

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year, including
both specific and collective loss components, is as follows:

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

At 1 April 2007/1 April 2006 1,208 642
Impairment loss (reversed)/recognised (120) 1,437
Uncollectible amounts written off (673) (871)

At 31 March 2008/31 March 2007 415 1,208
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18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
(a) Impairment of trade debtors and royalty receivables (continued)

At 31 March 2008, the Group’s trade debtors and royalty receivables of
$415,000 (2007: $1,208,000) were individually determined to be impaired.
The individually impaired receivables related to customers and management
assessed that the receivables are not recoverable. Consequently, specific
allowances for doubtful debts were recognised at 31 March 2008. The
Group occasionally requests cash deposits as collateral from customers.

(b) Trade debtors and royalty receivables that are not impaired
Trade debtors and royalty receivables are generally due within 30 to 60
days from the date of billing. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are
set out in note 30(a).

The ageing analysis of trade debtors and royalty receivables that are neither
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are as follows:

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Neither past due nor impaired 13,490 9,297
------------------------ ------------------------

1 to 3 months past due 2,334 1,533
More than 3 months but less than 1 year

past due 65 42

Amount past due 2,399 1,575
------------------------ ------------------------

15,889 10,872

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide range
of customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of
independent customers that have a good track record with the Group. Based
on past experience, management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
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19 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) A SUBSIDIARY
The amounts due from/(to) a subsidiary are unsecured, interest free and recoverable/
repayable on demand.

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and in hand.

21 BANK LOANS
At 31 March 2008, the bank loans were repayable as follows:

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Within 1 year or on demand 2,741 638

At 31 March 2008, the banks loans were secured as follows:

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Bank loans
– secured 605 638
– unsecured 2,136 –

2,741 638

The bank loan of $605,000 (2007: $638,000) is secured by mortgage over
certain land and buildings with a carrying value of $1,053,000 (2007:
$1,138,000).

The Group’s unsecured banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants
relating to certain of the Group’s balance sheet ratios, as are commonly found in
lending arrangements with financial institutions. As at 31 March 2008, none of the
covenants had been breached (2007: $Nil).
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22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The Group The Company
2008 2007 2008 2007

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade creditors 12,334 7,352 – –
Bills payable 818 1,543 – –
Interest on loans from

shareholders
(note 36(c)(ii)) 985 985 – –

Accrued charges 7,311 7,898 141 134
Deferred income

(note 28) 1,180 1,180 – –
Deposits received 4,185 3,658 – –
Others 3,714 1,725 – –

30,527 24,341 141 134

Credit terms obtained by the Group range from 30 to 45 days. All of the trade and
other payables are expected to be settled within one year, except for the deposits
received.

Included in accrued charges of the Group is a provision for additional value added
tax of $1,014,000 (2007: $1,014,000). Details of which are set out in note 33(b)
to the financial statements.

Included in trade and other payables are trade creditors and bills payable with the
following ageing analysis as of the balance sheet date:

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Due within 1 month or on demand 9,772 6,079
Due after 1 month but within 3 months 2,206 1,925
Due after 3 months but within 6 months 1,174 891

13,152 8,895

Included in trade and other payables is the following amount denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the entity to which it relates:

The Group
2008 2007
’000 ’000

Hong Kong Dollars HK$10,609 HK$8,100
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23 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
(a) Defined benefit retirement schemes

The Group’s Taiwan subsidiaries participate in a central pension scheme
providing benefits to participating employees in accordance with the Labour
Standards Law (as amended) in Taiwan. The Group has an obligation to
ensure that there are sufficient funds in the scheme to pay the benefits
earned. The Group currently contributes at 2% of the total salaries as
determined and approved by the relevant government authorities. The
contributions are placed with the Central Trust of China, a government
institution.

The central pension scheme is funded by contributions from the Group in
accordance with an independent actuary’s recommendation based on annual
actuarial valuation. The latest independent actuarial valuation of the scheme
was at 31 March 2008 and was performed by Dr Lin, who is a Fellow of
Actuarial Institute of Republic of China, using the projected unit credit method.
The actuarial valuation indicates that the Group’s obligations under the
defined benefit retirement scheme are 80% (2007: 87%) covered by the
plan assets placed with the government institution.

(i) The amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet is as follows:

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Present value of funded obligations 2,211 1,792
Fair value of plan assets (1,770) (1,562)

Present value of net obligations 441 230

Unrecognised transitional liabilities (44) (43)
Unrecognised actuarial (losses)/gains (48) 85

349 272

A portion of the above liability is expected to be settled after more
than one year. However, it is not practicable to segregate this amount
from the amounts payable in the next twelve months, as future
contributions will also relate to future services rendered and future
changes in actuarial assumptions and market conditions. The Group
expects to pay $61,000 in contributions to defined benefit retirement
plans in the coming year.
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23 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)
(a) Defined benefit retirement schemes (continued)

(ii) Plan assets consist of the following:

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Cash deposits 1,770 1,562

(iii) Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

At 1 April 2007/1 April 2006 1,792 1,743
Exchange adjustments 177 (34)
Current service cost 29 30
Interest cost 69 65
Actuarial losses/(gains) 144 (12)

At 31 March 2008/31 March 2007 2,211 1,792

(iv) Movements in plan assets

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

At 1 April 2007/1 April 2006 1,562 1,539
Exchange adjustments 144 (30)
Group’s contributions paid

to the schemes 9 14
Actuarial expected return

on scheme assets 44 42
Actuarial gains/(losses) 11 (3)

At 31 March 2008/31 March 2007 1,770 1,562
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23 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)
(a) Defined benefit retirement schemes (continued)

(v) Expense recognised in consolidated profit or loss is as follows:

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Current service cost 29 30
Interest on obligations 69 65
Actuarial expected return on plan assets (44) (42)
Amortisation of actuarial losses and

transitional liabilities 5 5

59 58

The expenses are recognised in the following line items in the
consolidated income statement:

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Selling expenses 57 55
Administrative expenses 2 3

59 58

Actual return on plan assets 55 39
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23 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)
(a) Defined benefit retirement schemes (continued)

(vi) The principal actuarial assumptions used as at 31 March 2008
(expressed as weighted averages) are as follows:

The Group
2008 2007

Discount rate 3.50% 3.75%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 2.75% 2.75%
Future salary increases 2.75% 2.75%

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on the
return of plan assets (i.e. cash deposits), which is based exclusively
on historical returns, without adjustments.

Historical information

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Present value of the defined benefit
obligations 2,211 1,792

Fair value of plan assets (1,770) (1,562)

Deficit in the plan 441 230

Experience adjustments arising
on plan liabilities 144 (12)

Experience adjustments arising
on plan assets 11 (3)

(b) Defined contribution retirement scheme
With effect from 1 July 2005, certain employees of the Taiwan subsidiaries
who were previously covered in the above defined benefit retirement plans
may choose to and have been transferred to a defined contribution scheme
governed by the Labour Pension Act. The Taiwan subsidiaries contribute at
6% of the total salaries of participating employees that chose to participate
in the defined contribution scheme, deposited into individual pension accounts
at the Bureau of Labour Insurance. Contributions to the defined contribution
scheme are charged to profit or loss when incurred.



70 2008 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

23 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)
(b) Defined contribution retirement scheme (continued)

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$20,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

For other subsidiaries, contributions to the defined contribution pension
schemes are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred.

24 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
The Company has a share option scheme (“the Share Option Scheme”) which was
adopted on 3 January 2003 whereby the directors of the Company may, at their
discretion, grant options to all employees, including directors of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option and will
entitle the holder to subscribe for ordinary shares during a period to be determined
and notified by the directors of the Company, in any event not later than 10 years
from the date of the grant of the option, as may be determined by the directors of
the Company at a price not less than the higher of:

(i) the nominal value of the ordinary shares;

(ii) the closing price of the ordinary shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKSE”) on the date of the
offer of grant; and

(iii) the average closing price of the ordinary shares as stated in the HKSE’s
daily quotation sheet for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of the offer of grant.

The maximum number of ordinary shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme, must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
issued ordinary share capital of the Company from time to time. In respect of the
maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share Option Scheme, the
number of securities issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to each participant in any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the Company’s
ordinary shares in issue. Any ordinary shares allotted and issued on the exercise of
options will rank pari passu with the other ordinary shares in issue at the date of
exercise of the relevant option. Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe
for one ordinary share in the Company.
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24 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Movements during the year:

Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise as at Lapsed as at

price per Exercise 1 April during the 31 March
Date of grant share period 2007 year 2008

7 April 2004 HK$1.52 1 April 5,330,000 (530,000) 4,800,000
2005 to

31 March
2009

7 April 2004 HK$1.52 1 April 5,330,000 (530,000) 4,800,000
2006 to

31 March
2009

10,660,000 (1,060,000) 9,600,000

(a) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during
the years are as follows, whereby all options are settled by
physical delivery of shares:

Contractual
Number of Vesting life of

instruments conditions options

Options granted to employees:

– on 7 April 2004 5,580,000 One year from the 5 years
date of grant

– on 7 April 2004 5,580,000 Two years from the 5 years
date of grant

Total share options 11,160,000



72 2008 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

24 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of share

options are as follows:

2008 2007
Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of

price options price options

Outstanding at the beginning
of the period HK$1.52 10,660,000 HK$1.52 11,160,000

Lapsed during the period HK$1.52 (1,060,000) HK$1.52 (500,000)

Outstanding at the end
of the period HK$1.52 9,600,000 HK$1.52 10,660,000

Exercisable at the end
of the period HK$1.52 9,600,000 HK$1.52 10,660,000

There were no share options granted or exercised during the years ended
31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007. The options outstanding at 31 March
2008 had an exercise price of HK$1.52 (2007: HK$1.52) and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 1 year (2007: 2 years).

(c) Fair value of share options and assumptions
The fair value of services received in return for share options granted is
measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted. The estimate
of the fair value of the share options granted is measured based on Black-
Scholes Option Pricing Model. The contractual life of the share option is
used as an input into this model.

Fair value of share options and assumptions

2008 2007

Fair value at measurement date HK$0.29 HK$0.29
Share price HK$1.40 HK$1.40
Exercise price HK$1.52 HK$1.52
Expected volatility (expressed as weighted

average volatility used in the modelling
under Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model) 38.84% 38.84%

Option life (expressed as weighted average
life used in the modelling under Black-Scholes
Option Pricing Model) 5 years 5 years

Expected dividends 3.50% 3.50%
Risk-free interest rate 2.80% 2.80%
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24 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) Fair value of share options and assumptions (continued)

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility (calculated based on
the weighted average remaining life of the share options). Expected dividends
are based on historical dividends. Changes in the subjective input assumptions
could materially affect the fair value estimate.

There were no service conditions or market conditions associated with the
share options granted.

25 BALANCES WITH RELATED COMPANIES/SHAREHOLDERS
The balances are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. Details of
related party transactions are set out in note 36.

26 INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET
(a) Current taxation in the balance sheet represents

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Provision for overseas tax 5,687 5,807
Provisional tax paid (2,148) (2,448)

3,539 3,359
Balance of profits tax provision relating

to prior years 3,330 1,827

6,869 5,186

The Group operates mainly in Taiwan, Korea, Singapore, United States and
other countries in Asia and Europe. The directors have reviewed the Group’s
worldwide operations and consider that adequate provision for taxation has
been made in the consolidated financial statements. Details of certain income
tax contingencies are set out in note 33.
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26 INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET (continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets recognised

The Group
The components of deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet and the movements during the year are as follows:

Depreciation
in excess of Future

related benefit
depreciation Inventory Operating of tax

allowances write-down revenue losses Others Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deferred tax arising
from:

At 1 April 2006 104 729 1,413 181 28 2,455
Exchange adjustments – (2) 52 – 1 51
(Charged)/credited to

profit or loss (88) 267 (230) (181) 1,569 1,337

At 31 March 2007 16 994 1,235 – 1,598 3,843

At 1 April 2007 16 994 1,235 – 1,598 3,843
Exchange adjustments (1) 35 (66) – 1 (31)
Credited/(charged) to

profit or loss 12 337 165 – (264) 250

At 31 March 2008 27 1,366 1,334 – 1,335 4,062
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26 INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET (continued)
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(q), the Group has
not recognised deferred tax assets on the following deductible temporary
differences as it is not probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the assets can be utilised:

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Future benefit of tax losses 6,237 4,729
Others 2,568 1,717

8,805 6,446

At 31 March 2008, the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in
respect of tax losses, whose expiry dates are:

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

In March 2011 – 104
In March 2012 96 596
No expiry date 6,141 4,029

6,237 4,729

(d) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised
At 31 March 2008, temporary differences relating to the undistributed profits
of subsidiaries amounted to $39,666,000 (2007: $27,889,000). Deferred
tax liabilities of $8,683,000 (2007: $5,786,000) have not been recognised
in respect of the tax that would be payable on distribution of these retained
profits as the Company controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries
and it has been determined that it is probable that profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.
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27 LOANS FROM SHAREHOLDERS
The loans from shareholders were borrowed by Hang Ten International Holdings
Limited (“Hang Ten (BVI)”) to finance the acquisition of ILC International Corporation
(“ILC”) in December 2001. The loans are unsecured, interest bearing at an annual
rate of 6% and due for repayment in 2011 or earlier if an event of default occurs
under the terms of the loan agreements. Accrued interest of $985,000 (2007:
$985,000) is included under trade and other payables in note 22.

28 DEFERRED INCOME
A subsidiary of the Group entered into an agreement with Itochu Corporation
(“Itochu”) on 7 May 2004 for the lease of exclusive rights in respect of “Hang Ten”
in the Japan territory for a period of 10 years ending 31 March 2014 for a fee of
$11,800,000 (net of tax at $10,620,000). An option was granted to Itochu under
this agreement to purchase the exclusive rights at a price of $10,730,000 upon
expiry of the 10-year lease period.

Deferred income represents the unearned portion of royalty income and is analysed
as follows:

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Total deferred income 7,080 8,260
Less: current portion included in trade and

other payables (note 22) (1,180) (1,180)

5,900 7,080
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29 CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(a) The Group

Share
Share Share Contributed options Exchange Retained Minority Total

capital premium surplus reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 April 2006 12,593 1,528 5,710 442 4,124 40,734 65,131 2,680 67,811
Exchange differences on

translation of financial
statements of overseas
subsidiaries – – – – 409 – 409 49 458

Exchange reserve realised
on capital reduction of
subsidiary – – – – (619) – (619) – (619)

Dividend approved in respect
of previous year – – – – – (6,350) (6,350) – (6,350)

Redemption of capital of
a subsidiary from minority
shareholder – – – – (17) (154) (171) (1,879) (2,050)

Profit/(loss) for the year – – – – – 13,952 13,952 (32) 13,920

At 31 March 2007 12,593 1,528 5,710 442 3,897 48,182 72,352 818 73,170

At 1 April 2007 12,593 1,528 5,710 442 3,897 48,182 72,352 818 73,170
Exchange differences on

translation of financial
statements of overseas
subsidiaries – – – – 731 – 731 129 860

Exchange reserve realised
on capital reduction of
subsidiary – – – – (782) – (782) – (782)

Dividend approved in respect
of previous year – – – – – (6,333) (6,333) – (6,333)

Share options lapsed – – – (92) – 92 – – –
Profit for the year – – – – – 21,563 21,563 23 21,586

At 31 March 2008 12,593 1,528 5,710 350 3,846 63,504 87,531 970 88,501
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29 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) The Company

Share
Share Share Contributed options Retained

capital premium surplus reserve profits Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 April 2006 12,593 1,528 14,562 442 6,381 35,506
Dividend approved in

respect of previous year – – – – (6,350) (6,350)
Profit for the year – – – – 6,389 6,389

At 31 March 2007 12,593 1,528 14,562 442 6,420 35,545

At 1 April 2007 12,593 1,528 14,562 442 6,420 35,545
Dividend approved in

respect of previous year – – – – (6,333) (6,333)
Share options lapsed – – – (92) 92 –
Profit for the year – – – – 8,944 8,944

At 31 March 2008 12,593 1,528 14,562 350 9,123 38,156

(c) Share capital
Authorised and issued share capital

2008 2007

Number of Number of
Number of convertible Number of convertible

ordinary preference ordinary preference
shares shares Total shares shares Total

‘000 $’000 $’000 $’000 ‘000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of

HK$0.10 each 2,500,000 32,051 – – 32,051 2,500,000 32,051 – – 32,051
Convertible preference

shares (“CPS”) of
HK$10,000 each – – 7,307 9,368 9,368 – – 7,307 9,368 9,368

2,500,000 32,051 7,307 9,368 41,419 2,500,000 32,051 7,307 9,368 41,419

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 April 2006,

31 March 2007 and
31 March 2008 982,250 12,593 – – 12,593 982,250 12,593 – – 12,593
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29 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(c) Share capital (continued)

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared
from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by section
40 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

(ii) Contributed surplus
The excess of the consolidated net assets of Hang Ten (BVI) acquired
over the nominal value of the shares issued by the Company pursuant
to the reorganisation completed prior to its listing on the HKSE in
January 2003 is credited to contributed surplus. Contributed surplus is
available for distribution to shareholders in accordance with the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 subject to certain conditions.

(iii) Share options reserve
The share options reserve represents the fair value of the actual or
estimated number of unexercised share options granted to employees
of the Group recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for share-based payments in note 1(p)(iii).

(iv) Exchange reserve
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 1(t).

(e) Distributability of reserves
At 31 March 2008, the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution
to equity shareholders of the Company amounted to $25,213,000 (2007:
$22,510,000). After the balance sheet date the directors proposed a final
dividend of HK6.0 cents per ordinary share (2007: HK5.0 cents per ordinary
share), amounting to $7,600,000 (2007: $6,333,000), and a special
dividend of HK1.0 cent per ordinary share (2007: Nil) amounting to
$1,266,000 (2007: Nil). These dividends have not been recognised as
liabilities at the balance sheet date.
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29 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(f) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group defines “capital” as including all components of equity attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company. On this basis the amount of capital
employed at 31 March 2008 was $87,531,000 (2007: $72,352,000). The
Group manages its capital structure and make adjustments to it, in light of
changes in economic conditions. The Group reviews the capital structure on
a regular basis and considers the cost of capital and the associated risks,
and balances its overall capital structure through adjusting the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issuing new shares or raising new debt
financing. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
during the years ended 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007.

The Group monitors capital with reference to its debt position. The Group’s
strategy is to maintain a solid base to support the operations and development
of its business in the long term. The Group’s gearing ratio, being the Group’s
bank borrowings over its equity attributable to equity shareholders, as at 31
March 2008 was 3.1% (2007: 0.9%).

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency risks arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to equity price
risk arising from its equity investments in other entities.

These risks are limited by the Group’s financial management policies and practices
described below.

(a) Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to wholesale of goods and
royalty receivables as retail sales to customers are made in cash or through
credit cards. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)

Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. These receivables are generally
due within 30 to 60 days from the date of billing. The Group occasionally
requests cash deposits as collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer. The default risk of the industry and country
in which customers operate also has an influence on credit risk but to a
lesser extent. The Group does not have a concentration of credit risk at 31
March 2008. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the balance sheet. The Group
does not provide any guarantees which would expose the Group to credit
risk.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from trade and other receivables are set out in note 18.

(b) Liquidity risk
Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own
cash management, including the short term investment of cash surpluses and
the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval by
the parent company’s management. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the balance
sheet date of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based
on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the balance
sheet date) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:
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30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group
2008 2007

Total More than More than Total More than More than

contractual Within 1 year but 2 years but contractual Within 1 year but 2 years but

Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than less than Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than less than

amount cash flow on demand 2 years 5 years amount cash flow on demand 2 years 5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Bank loans 2,741 2,895 2,895 – – 638 674 674 – –

Trade and other payables 30,527 30,527 30,527 – – 24,341 24,341 24,341 – –

Amounts due to

shareholders 1,177 1,177 1,177 – – 813 813 813 – –

Loans from shareholders 16,400 19,355 985 985 17,385 16,400 20,340 985 985 18,370

50,845 53,954 35,584 985 17,385 42,192 46,168 26,813 985 18,370

(c) Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents, bank loans and loans from shareholders. Borrowings issued
at variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively. The Group does not
use financial derivatives to hedge against the interest rate risk. The Group’s
interest rate profile as monitored by management is set out in note (i) below.
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30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile for the Group’s net
borrowings (being interest-bearing financial liabilities less cash and
cash equivalents) at the balance sheet date:

2008 2007
Effective Effective
interest interest

rate rate
$’000 $’000

Fixed rate
borrowings:

Secured bank loans 6.38% 605 5.7% 638
Loans from

shareholders 6% 16,400 6% 16,400

17,005 17,038
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Variable rate
(deposits)/
borrowings:

Unsecured bank
loans 5.4% 2,136 –

Less: Cash and
cash
equivalents 2% to 6% (23,767) 1% to 5% (15,930)

(21,631) (15,930)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Total net
(deposits)/
borrowings (4,626) 1,108

(ii) Sensitivity analysis
At 31 March 2008, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease
of one percentage point in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s profit after tax by
approximately $216,000 (2007: $159,000).



84 2008 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis (continued)
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the balance sheet date and
had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for the non-
derivative financial instruments in existence at that date. The one
percentage point increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates over the
period until the next annual balance sheet date. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2007.

(d) Foreign currency risk
(i) Forecast transactions

The Group operates in a number of countries and is exposed to
foreign exchange rate risk arising from various currency transactions.

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through
purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which they relate particularly in Hong
Kong dollars, where the Group considers the risk of movements in
exchange rates between the United States dollars and the Hong Kong
dollars to be insignificant.

To manage the foreign exchange risk arising from other forecast
transactions, the Group uses forward contracts when material fluctuation
in the relevant foreign currency is anticipated. At 31 March 2008,
the Group had forward exchange contracts hedging forecast
transactions with a net fair value of $97,000 (2007: $Nil) recognised
as derivative financial instruments.

The inter-group transactions are normally denominated in United States
dollars.

(ii) Recognised assets and liabilities and net investment in foreign
operations
In respect of recognised assets and liabilities held in currencies other
than the functional currency of the entities to which they relate, and
certain investment in foreign operations whose net assets are exposed
to foreign currency translation risk, the Group ensures that the net
exposure is kept to an acceptable level. All the Group’s borrowings
are denominated in either the functional currency of the entity taking
out the loan or the United States dollars. Given this, management
does not expect that there will be any significant currency risk
associated with the Group’s borrowings.
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30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(e) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from investment
classified as financial assets through profit or loss (see note 16). All the
Group’s investments are listed funds in Taiwan. The investments have been
chosen based on their long term growth potential and are monitored regularly
for performance against expectations.

(f) Fair values
All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from
their carrying values as at 31 March 2008 and 2007.

(g) Estimation of fair values
The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in
estimating the fair values of the following financial instruments.

(i) Securities
Fair value is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date
without any deduction for transaction costs.

(ii) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
The fair value is estimated as the present value of future cash flows,
discounted at current market interest rates for similar financial
instruments.

31 ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS
On 22 October 2007, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
Accurate Sino Developments Limited (“Accurate Sino”), according to which the
Group agreed to acquire and Accurate Sino agreed to sell the 100% issued share
capital of Hang Ten (China) Group Limited (“Acquired Subsidiary”) at a consideration
of $1,250,000. For the post acquisition period ended 31 March 2008, the Acquired
Subsidiary contributed net profit of $32,000 to the consolidated net profit for the
year. Had the acquisition occurred on 1 April 2007, the revenue of the Group will
be increased by $3,076,000 and the consolidated net profit will be decreased by
$544,000.
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31 ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (continued)
The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities:

$’000

Fair value of net assets acquired

Property, plant and equipment 304
Intangible assets 380
Inventories 1,516
Trade and other receivables 585
Cash and cash equivalents 264
Trade and other payables (2,305)

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 744
Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 13) 506

Consideration, satisfied in cash 1,250
Cash acquired (264)

Net cash outflow 986

Goodwill has arisen on acquisition of the Acquired Subsidiary because of synergies
and assembled workforce that did not meet the criteria for recognition as an
intangible asset at the date of acquisition.

32 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
At 31 March 2008, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases are payable as follows:

The Group
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Within 1 year 18,747 19,459
After 1 year but within 5 years 20,493 26,574

39,240 46,033

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties held under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of two to six years, with an
option to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. The monthly rentals of
the leases are either fixed or contingent based on an agreed percentage of the
turnover of the respective months. For the purpose of the above disclosure, contingent
rentals are based on the minimum rental payments stipulated in the lease agreements.
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33 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(a) Letters of credit

At 31 March 2008, outstanding letters of credit of the Group for the purchase
of goods amounted to $3,945,000 (2007: $4,365,000).

(b) Tax exposure in relation to the co-operative arrangement
In December 2003, the Group received a notice of claim from Taiwan Tax
Authority (“TTA”) for additional value added tax (“VAT”) and penalties (up
to three times of the additional VAT) in respect of sales made through certain
retail shops which are operated under co-operative arrangements with third
parties. The TTA considers that the Group has excluded a portion of the
sales value during the period from January 1999 to December 2002 for the
purpose of VAT filings. The case was handled by the High Court, which
ordered a judgement in favour of the Group in September 2007. The TTA
has subsequently filed an appeal to the Supreme Administrative Court and
the case was sent back to the High court for re-trial. The appeal hearing at
the High Court is currently pending.

Having taken relevant professional advice, the directors made a provision
for the additional VAT in the 2005 financial statements but no provision has
been made for the penalties. Based on the current available information, the
directors are confident that the Group has reasonable grounds to refute the
penalties and considers that no further provision is required at 31 March
2008.

(c) Financial guarantees issued
As at the balance sheet date, the Company has issued financial guarantees
to its subsidiaries in respect of certain bank facilities. Due to the related
party nature of these instruments, the directors considered it is not meaningful
and practicable to estimate the fair values of the financial guarantees and
therefore they have not been recognised in the Company’s financial
statements.

34 PLEDGE OF ASSETS
At 31 March 2008, a bank loan of $605,000 (2007: $638,000) was secured by
pledge of certain land and buildings with a carrying value of $1,053,000 (2007:
$1,138,000).
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35 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which principally
affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is
ordinary shares unless otherwise stated.

All of these subsidiaries have been consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements.

Particulars of Proportion of ownership interest
Place of issued and Group’s held by held by
incorporation paid up effective the a Principal

Name of company and operation capital interest Company subsidiary activities

Hang Ten (BVI) British Virgin $103,821 100% 100% – Investment
Islands holding
(“BVI”)

ILC BVI $639,830 100% – 100% Investment
holding

Hang Ten Enterprises BVI $50,000 100% – 100% Investment holding,
Limited retail and

wholesale of
apparels

Yangtze Apparel Taiwan Taiwan NT$ 100% – 100% Retail and
Enterprise Limited 100,000,000 wholesale

of apparels

Hang Ten (Phils) Holdings BVI $50,000 100% – 100% Investment
Corporation holding

Hang Ten Phils., Corp Philippines PHP50,000,000 55% – 55% Retail and
wholesale
of apparels

Hang Ten Enterprises Singapore SGD1,000,000 100% – 100% Retail and
(Pte) Ltd. wholesale

of apparels

Hang Ten Korea Corp. Korea KRW 100% – 100% Retail and
50,000,000 wholesale

of apparels

Hang Ten Enterprises (M) Malaysia RM500,000 100% – 100% Retail and
Sdn Bhd wholesale

of apparels
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35 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Particulars of Proportion of ownership interest

Place of issued and Group’s held by held by
incorporation paid up effective the a Principal

Name of company and operation capital interest Company subsidiary activities

Precise Delta Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% – 100% Investment
holding

HTEL (Macau) Limited Macau MOP25,000 100% – 100% Retail and
wholesale of
apparels

HTEL (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100% – 100% Retail and
Limited wholesale of

apparels

Hang Ten (China) Group BVI $20,000 100% – 100% Investment
Limited holding

Guangzhou Hang Ten The PRC RMB500,000 100% – 100% Retail and
Trading Limited wholesale of

apparels

ILC Trademark BVI $50,000 100% – 100% Trademark
Corporation ownership

and licensing

ILC (Cyprus) Limited Cyprus Cypriot 100% – 100% Investment
pounds 1,000 holding

ILC (Hungary) Limited Hungary $6,400 100% – 100% Trademark
licensing

HTIL Holdings Netherlands $6,000 100% – 100% Investment
Corporation N.V. Antilles holding

HTIL Corporation, B.V. The NLG40,000 100% – 100% Trademark
Netherlands licensing

International Licensing United States $10,000 100% – 100% Trademark
(California) Corp of America licensing

and
management

Hang Ten Retail USA, Inc. United States $16,102 79.91% – 79.91% In members’
(Note) of America liquidation

Note: On 15 December 2005, the directors resolved to terminate the operations of Hang Ten Retail
USA, Inc. which subsequently commenced members’ voluntary liquidation. The liquidation is still
in the progress as at 31 March 2008.
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36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material transactions with related
parties.

(a) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts
paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in note 7 and certain of the
highest paid employees as disclosed in note 8, is as follows:

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefits 2,386 1,935
Post-employment benefits 12 13

2,398 1,948

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 5(b)).

(b) (i) Transactions with Michel Rene Enterprises Limited, a
subsidiary of YGM Trading Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Rental income from leasing of
retail stores and equipment 78 –

Rental expenses for leasing of
retail stores – 16

Service fee income in respect of
maintenance services for retail stores 30 19

(ii) Amount due from Michel Rene Enterprises Limited

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Amount due from Michel Rene
Enterprises Limited 48 40

Details of the terms are set out in note 25.
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36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) (i) Transactions with shareholders of the Company

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Executive remuneration paid to
Mr Dennis Kung 629 484

Executive remuneration paid to
Mr Kenneth Hung 945 727

Interest on loans from shareholders 985 985

(ii) Balances with shareholders
2008 2007

$’000 $’000

Amounts due to shareholders 1,177 813
Loans from shareholders 16,400 16,400
Accrued interest on loans from

shareholders (note 22) 985 985

Details of the terms are set out in notes 5(a), 25 and 27.

(d) (i) Transactions with Hang Ten (China) Group Limited, a
company formerly wholly owned by the substantial
shareholders of the Company (Note)

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Royalty income and advertising
contributions 82 182

(ii) Balance with Hang Ten (China) Group Limited

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Amount due from Hang Ten (China)
Group Limited – 107

Details of the terms are set out in note 25.

Note: Hang Ten (China) Group Limited was acquired by the Group during the year.
Details of which are disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements.
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36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(e) (i) Transactions with minority shareholders of non-wholly

owned subsidiaries of the Company and their associates

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Sales of goods to Chua and company 1,178 1,410
Royalty income from Avon Dale

Garments, Inc. 114 28

(ii) Balances with associates of the minority shareholders

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Amount due from Avon Dale
Garments, Inc. 16 37

Details of the terms are set out in note 25.

37 SEGMENT REPORTING
Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s geographical and
business segments. Information related to geographical segments based on the
location of customers is chosen as the primary reporting format because this is
more relevant to the Group in making operating and financial decisions.

Geographical segments by the location of customers and by the
location of assets
The Group’s business is managed on a worldwide basis, but operations are
conducted in two principal economic environments. Taiwan and Korea are the
major markets for the Group’s business.

When presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment
information is based on the geographical location of customers unless otherwise
stated. Segment assets and capital expenditure are not further analysed by the
geographical locations of the assets, as the Group’s assets are located in the same
geographical areas as its customers.
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37 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
(i) An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by geographical segments is

as follows:

2008

Inter-

Hong Kong segment

Taiwan Korea Philippines Singapore and Macau Malaysia elimination Unallocated Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue from external customers 114,909 123,961 6,036 14,207 5,855 2,295 – 7,031 274,294

Inter-segment revenue 6,328 96 – 79 17 – (6,520) – –

Total revenue 121,237 124,057 6,036 14,286 5,872 2,295 (6,520) 7,031 274,294

Segment result 14,347 12,574 78 (1,829) (855) (279) (147) 23,889

Unallocated operating income

and expenses 4,531

Profit from operations 28,420

Finance costs (1,035)

Income tax (5,799)

Profit after taxation 21,586

Depreciation and amortisation

for the year 1,411 1,849 238 480 316 156 214 4,664

Provision for/(reversal of)

impairment losses on trade

and other receivables – 12 – – – – (132) (120)

(Reversal of)/provision for

write-down of inventories (120) 2,042 33 31 7 74 305 2,372
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37 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
(i) An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by geographical segments is

as follows: (continued)

2007

Inter-

Hong Kong segment

Taiwan Korea Philippines Singapore and Macau Malaysia elimination Unallocated Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue from external customers 108,711 113,826 5,353 16,858 5,986 2,972 – 3,910 257,616

Inter-segment revenue 6,642 245 – 74 178 – (7,139) – –

Total revenue 115,353 114,071 5,353 16,932 6,164 2,972 (7,139) 3,910 257,616

Segment result 9,276 11,579 (109) (1,583) (1,943) (109) (19) 17,092

Unallocated operating income

and expenses 2,922

Profit from operations 20,014

Finance costs (1,021)

Income tax (5,073)

Profit after taxation 13,920

Depreciation and amortisation

for the year 1,597 1,362 218 513 420 184 – 4,294

Impairment losses on trade and

other receivables – 29 – – – – 1,408# 1,437

Write-down of inventories 1,185 1,847 5 62 24 1 – 3,124

# The amount mainly represents impairment losses on royalty receivables from licensing
operations.
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37 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
(ii) An analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by geographical segments is

as follows:

Inter-
Hong Kong segment

Taiwan Korea Philippines Singapore and Macau Malaysia elimination Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 March 2008

Segment assets 96,890 44,428 2,852 4,343 1,674 1,205 (36,972) 114,420
Unallocated assets 38,044

Total assets 152,464

Segment liabilities 30,533 13,438 1,777 8,490 5,529 1,712 (25,195) 36,284
Unallocated liabilities 27,679

Total liabilities 63,963

Capital expenditure incurred
during the year 2,813 3,202 162 217 146 126 6,666

Unallocated capital expenditure 1,451

8,117

At 31 March 2007

Segment assets 98,024 36,378 2,367 5,744 2,237 1,139 (51,071) 94,818
Unallocated assets 33,082

Total assets 127,900

Segment liabilities 31,678 9,490 2,441 7,817 5,078 1,335 (29,606) 28,233
Unallocated liabilities 26,497

Total liabilities 54,730

Capital expenditure incurred
during the year 1,406 3,227 216 468 79 89 5,485

Unallocated capital expenditure –

5,485
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37 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
(iii) Business segments

The Group comprises the following main business segments:

(i) Sales of apparel – Retail and wholesale of branded apparel and
accessories

(ii) Royalty income – Licensing “Hang Ten” brand to worldwide licensees

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Revenue from external customers:
– Sales of apparel 270,590 253,706
– Royalty income 3,704 3,910

274,294 257,616

Segment assets:
– Sales of apparel 113,966 89,246
– Royalty income 2,202 2,618
– Unallocated (including trademarks) 36,296 36,036

152,464 127,900

Capital expenditure incurred during
the year:
– Sales of apparel 8,117 5,485
– Royalty income – –

8,117 5,485

38 NON-ADJUSTING POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
(i) Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Company’s subsidiaries, Hang

Ten Enterprises Limited – Taiwan Branch and Yangtze Apparel Taiwan
Enterprise Limited, entered into sale and purchase agreements with
independent third parties to acquire two properties in Taiwan at a cash
consideration of New Taiwan dollars 137 million (equivalent to approximately
$4,494,000) and New Taiwan dollars 176 mil l ion (equivalent to
approximately $5,790,000) on 1 May 2008 and 22 May 2008 respectively.

(ii) On 23 May 2008, the Company’s subsidiary, ILC Trademark Corporation,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement to sell the interest in the
trademarks to a third party in the United States and Canada for a
consideration of $10,400,000.
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39 COMPARATIVE FIGURES
As a result of adopting HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures and the
amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Capital disclosures,
certain comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in
disclosures in the current year and to show separately comparative amounts in
respect of items disclosed for the first time in the year ended 31 March 2008.
Further details of these developments are disclosed in note 2.

40 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(i) Goodwill and intangible assets

Notes 13 and 15 contain information about the assumptions relating to the
impairment test on goodwill and intangible assets. In addition, note 15
contains information relating to the assessment of the indefinite life of the
intangible assets.

(ii) Income tax provisions
The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Determining
income tax provisions involves judgement on the future tax treatment of
certain transactions. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of
such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into account all changes
in tax legislations in the respective jurisdictions.

(iii) Write-down of inventories
Inventories are reviewed periodically to assess whether any write-down or
reversal of write-down is required. The estimate is based on historical
experience relating to the sales performance subsequent to respective seasons.
Uncertainty exists in these estimates and the policy is reviewed regularly and
adjusted if necessary.

41 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2008
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a
number of amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2008 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
amendments, new standards and new interpretations is expected to be in the
period of initial application but is not yet in a position to state whether these
amendments, new standards and interpretations would have a significant impact on
its results of operation and financial operation.
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41 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 (continued)
In addition, the following developments may result in new or amended disclosures
in the financial statements:

Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after

HKFRS 8 Operating segments 1 January 2009

Revised HKAS 1 Presentation of financial statements 1 January 2009



Hang Ten Group Holdings Limited 99

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
(Expressed in United States dollars)

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated results

Turnover 183,747 212,955 243,093 257,616 274,294

Profit before taxation 13,708 20,617 17,794 18,993 27,385
Income tax (1,862) (4,564) (4,171) (5,073) (5,799)

Profit for the year 11,846 16,053 13,623 13,920 21,586

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 11,240 16,040 13,003 13,952 21,563
Minority interests 606 13 620 (32) 23

Profit for the year 11,846 16,053 13,623 13,920 21,586

Consolidated assets
and liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 6,657 7,756 8,838 9,725 11,227
Goodwill 8,461 8,989 8,989 8,989 9,495
Intangible assets 17,312 17,523 17,523 17,711 17,882
Other assets 1,124 1,318 2,455 3,843 4,062
Net current assets 26,718 50,167 54,899 56,654 68,484
Non-current liabilities (16,920) (26,782) (24,893) (23,752) (22,649)

Net assets 43,352 58,971 67,811 73,170 88,501

Capital and reserves

Share capital 12,593 12,593 12,593 12,593 12,593
Reserves 29,271 44,461 52,538 59,759 74,938

Total equity attributable
to equity shareholders
of the Company 41,864 57,054 65,131 72,352 87,531

Minority interests 1,488 1,917 2,680 818 970

Total equity 43,352 58,971 67,811 73,170 88,501
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Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Earnings per share

Basic * 3.36 cents 2.17 cents 1.52 cents 1.42 cents 2.20 cents

Diluted * 1.12 cents 1.63 cents 1.32 cents 1.42 cents 2.20 cents

Dividends 3,348 5,035 6,350 6,333 8,866

* Adjusted to reflect the consolidation of ordinary shares on 12 November 2004.
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